Renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals and their virtues: the three-loop self energy case

Stephen P. Martin

Department of Physics, Northern Illinois University, DeKalb IL 60115

Loop diagram calculations typically rely on reduction to a finite set of master integrals in $4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions. It has been shown that for any problem, the masters can be chosen so that their coefficients are finite as $\epsilon \to 0$. I propose a definition of renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals, which incorporate ultraviolet divergence subtractions in a specific way. A key advantage of this choice is that in expressions for physical observables, expansions to positive powers in ϵ are never needed. As an example, I provide the subtractions for general three-loop self-energy integrals. The differential equations method is used to compute numerically the renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals for arbitrary external momentum invariant, in special cases with internal masses equal to a single scale or zero. These include the ones necessary for the three-loop QCD corrections to the self-energies of the W, Z, and Higgs bosons. In principle, the same method should provide for numerical computation of general three-loop self energies with any masses.

Contents

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals	3
III.	Self-energy integrals	5
	A. General conventions	5
	B. One-loop and two-loop self-energy integrals	5
	C. Three-loop self-energy integrals	9
	D. Numerical evaluation by differential equations	16
IV.	The case of massless internal propagators	18
v.	The case of all internal propagator masses equal	19
VI.	Integrals with odd thresholds	21
VII.	Integrals with even thresholds	26
VIII.	Outlook	28
	References	30

I. INTRODUCTION

Precision calculations of radiative corrections in relativistic quantum field theory in the modern era almost always make use of dimensional regularization [1-6] to

$$d = 4 - 2\epsilon \tag{1.1}$$

dimensions in order to deal with ultraviolet (UV) and sometimes infrared (IR) divergences. The integration by parts (IBP) method [7, 8] can then be used to reduce the expressions to linear combinations of so-called master integrals, with coefficients that are rational expressions in ϵ , the propagator squared masses, and the external momentum invariants. There are an infinite number of IBP relations, but only a finite number [9] of master integrals are needed to express the results for any given problem. In principle, the method of ref. [10] can always be used to solve the IBP relations. However, in practice the reduction process can have formidable memory and computing time requirements, which has prompted the development of various advanced algorithms and computer codes [11–23] to solve the problem.

The choice of master integrals is not unique, and there are at least three distinct criteria one might use to choose them. One goal might be to simplify as much as possible the task of reduction of a general integral to the masters. A second possible criteria could be to simplify the analytic or numerical calculation of the master integrals themselves. A third criteria might be to simplify as much as possible the presentation of results for physical observables. These criteria need not coincide, and can naturally lead to quite different choices for the master integrals. Some proposals for how to choose the master integrals in various contexts are given in refs. [24–35].

In the present paper, I will be interested in the specific goal of making the presentation of physical observables in terms of the master integrals as simple as possible. First, one often has to deal with the issue of "spurious" poles in ϵ , which occur not in the master integrals themselves but in the coefficients multiplying the master integrals in some physical quantity of interest. These can be a quite common occurrence when propagator masses vanish, and leads to the following problem. If the coefficient of a master integral has a pole $1/\epsilon^n$, then one will need the expansion of the master integral itself up to order ϵ^n in order to obtain a correct expression in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit.

Fortunately, it was shown by Chetyrkin, Faisst, Sturm, and Tentyukov in ref. [24] that for any problem one can always make a choice of the master integrals, called an ϵ -finite basis, so that the coefficients multiplying them are finite as $\epsilon \to 0$. The choice of an ϵ -finite basis[†] is neither unique nor obvious in general, but the existence proof also provides a simple algorithm for its construction. Moreover, for a given diagram topology class, this property of ϵ -finiteness is independent of the physical observable being calculated.

However, even after choosing an ϵ -finite basis for a given fixed loop order, there is another problem to be considered. Suppose one is doing a calculation at *l*-loop order in perturbation theory, using master integrals at every loop order k, with $1 \leq k \leq l$. Then, when computing a renormalized quantity, each k-loop order master could be multiplied by an (l - k)-loop-order

[†] Note that it is only the coefficients that are finite as $\epsilon \to 0$, not the master integrals. If the propagator squared masses are all non-zero and generic, then any basis without explicit factors of ϵ is ϵ -finite. Also, in practice, the "basis" chosen might actually be over-complete, either because not all linear relations between them are known, or because imposing some of the known linear relations would cause unwelcome complexity in coefficients.

counterterm, and can also occur in factorized integrals multiplied by other master integrals whose loop order totals l - k. In both cases, k-loop order master integrals will be multiplied by poles as severe as $1/\epsilon^{l-k}$. This would seem to suggest that for an *l*-loop order calculation, even with an ϵ -finite basis, the expansion of masters of lower loop order k will be needed for all positive powers up to ϵ^{l-k} .

In this paper, I emphasize that the last problem is also avoided if one expresses results in terms of what I will call renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals. As explained in more detail in the next section, these are obtained from the ϵ -finite masters by subtracting UV sub-divergences in a specific way, and then taking the limit as $\epsilon \to 0$. The key point is that when presenting results for the calculations of renormalized observables, by organizing the results in terms of renormalized ϵ -finite masters, it is never necessary to expand to positive powers in ϵ . This remains true even if the calculation is later extended to an arbitrary higher loop order. A heuristic justification for why this pleasant feature is not completely unexpected is that in the calculation of renormalized physical observables, one could in principle employ some other regulator not based on dimensional continuation at all, in which case there would be no essential reason for the appearance of higher moments of the integrals continued away from d = 4.

In this sense, the renormalized ϵ -finite masters provide an optimal way of expressing and numerically computing physical results, since the components with positive powers of ϵ do not appear and will never be needed. The essential reason for this is that the necessary renormalization of UV divergences automatically works together with the counterterms included within the definitions of the masters themselves, while IR divergences and other kinetic singularities must cancel if the calculated quantity is indeed an observable. This has already been verified for a variety of effective potential, tadpole, and self-energy calculations up to (now) three-loop order, as detailed below.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In the next section, I give a definition of renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals. In section III, I explicitly provide the necessary definitions for three-loop self-energy (and vacuum) functions, which are the focus of the rest of the paper. In section IV, I review the results for the case of internal propagators that are all massless, and in section V for the case that all internal propagators have the same non-zero mass. Sections VI and VII treat the case of integrals that arise in the three-loop QCD contributions to the self-energies of the W boson and the Z, H boson in the Standard Model, respectively. These have one non-zero propagator mass (that of the top quark) and other internal masses (for gluons and other quarks) vanishing. Those results, obtained in the pure $\overline{\text{MS}}$ tadpole-free scheme, will appear in a separate paper [36]. In each case, a method for straightforward numerical computation of the renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals (valid even for the range of external momentum invariant such that the expansions around zero and infinite external momenta do not converge) is given, based on the differential equations method [37–50]. Section VIII contains some concluding remarks.

II. RENORMALIZED ϵ -FINITE MASTER INTEGRALS

Consider an *l*-loop scalar integral \mathbf{I} in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions, which depends on some propagator squared masses and external momentum invariants. Suppose that \mathbf{I} is a member of an ϵ -finite basis,

as in ref. [24]. Let us define the corresponding renormalized integral I according to

$$I = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{I} - \sum_{k=0}^{l} \mathbf{I}^{k, \operatorname{div}} \right], \qquad (2.1)$$

where the UV k-loop sub-divergences $\mathbf{I}^{k, \text{div}}$ have been subtracted. More specifically,

$$\mathbf{I}^{k, \operatorname{div}} = \sum_{\mathbf{J}_k} \mathbf{J}_k \sum_{n=1}^k \frac{1}{\epsilon^n} c_{\mathbf{J}_k}^{(n)}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where the \mathbf{J}_k are the integrals obtained from \mathbf{I} by collapsing UV-divergent k-loop sub-diagrams to a point and eliminating the corresponding momentum integrations. Thus, each \mathbf{J}_k is an (l - k)loop integral, and in particular $\mathbf{J}_l = 1$. The sum over \mathbf{J}_k is obtained by considering all of the complementary collapsed k-loop sub-diagrams that contain UV poles. The counterterm coefficients $c_{\mathbf{J}_k}^{(n)}$ are polynomials in the propagator squared masses and the external momentum invariants, chosen so that I is free of UV divergences. Here, the UV divergences are defined to be those obtained for generic propagator squared masses and external momentum invariants. All remaining poles in ϵ are called infrared (IR) here, although it might be more precise to say "non-UV".[†] In the self-energy and vacuum integral cases studied explicitly below, each renormalized ϵ -finite master integral I is well-defined and finite for $\epsilon \to 0$, and so is independent of ϵ , but for more external legs it might be useful to keep remaining poles as $1/\epsilon_{\mathrm{IB}}^n$.

One can also expand the original integral I in powers ϵ^n , starting from the leading pole at n = -l:

$$\mathbf{I} = \sum_{n=-l}^{\infty} \epsilon^n I^{(n)}.$$
(2.3)

However, I propose that physical (renormalized) results should always be presented in terms of the integrals I, and not in terms of the integrals $I^{(0)}$, which are different except in the case that I is already finite. If one uses the $I^{(0)}$ integrals, then master integrals found at lower loop order will have to be expanded to positive powers in ϵ . Instead, organizing the results in terms of the integrals I avoids this, and is most convenient for extensions of the calculation to higher orders.

Renormalized ϵ -finite masters have already been defined exactly as above and employed in various self-energy calculations through two-loop order in refs. [51–58], and in the calculation of the effective potential through three-loop order in refs. [59–61]. In those previous examples, the "renormalized" part of the definition of the masters was paramount, ensuring that positive powers in ϵ for one-loop and two-loop masters were not needed. The ϵ -finiteness did not really play a role, simply because IR divergences were regulated by giving small regulator masses to gauge bosons, Goldstone bosons, and chiral fermions, rather than giving them exactly zero mass from the start. In this paper, I will treat the case of self-energy functions and vacuum integrals up to three-loop order, with applications to QCD corrections to weak boson self-energies in which gluons and the

[†] Integrals evaluated at thresholds can have non-UV poles in ϵ that are also not IR divergences but are treated in the same way.

quarks other than the top quark will be treated as exactly massless from the start. These results appear in a companion paper ref. [36], and illustrate the thematic property that expansions of the one-loop, two-loop, and three-loop masters to positive powers in ϵ are never needed.

III. SELF-ENERGY INTEGRALS

A. General conventions

In this section I establish the notations and conventions to be used below. Momentum integrals are defined in terms of their Wick-rotated Euclidean versions in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions. In diagrams below, each line carrying 4-momentum k^{μ} and with squared mass x represents a propagator factor of $1/(k^2 + x)$, and the loop-momentum integration measure is

$$\int_{k} \equiv (16\pi^{2}) \frac{\mu^{2\epsilon}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int d^{d}k.$$
(3.1)

The regularization scale μ is then traded for a scale Q (equal to the renormalization scale if the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme [62, 63] is adopted), according to

$$Q^2 = 4\pi e^{-\gamma} \mu^2, (3.2)$$

in terms of the Euler constant $\gamma = 0.5772156649...$ Now define

$$L_x \equiv \overline{\ln}(x) \equiv \ln(x/Q^2), \tag{3.3}$$

where the second notation was used in refs. [48–50] and the first notation will be used below. The external momentum invariant for self-energy functions is defined to be

$$s \equiv -p^2 + i\varepsilon, \tag{3.4}$$

with a Euclidean (or signature -+++) metric, so that

$$L_{-s} \equiv \overline{\ln}(-s) = \overline{\ln}(s) - i\pi, \qquad (3.5)$$

where the last equation holds for positive (physical) s. Below, s and Q will always be suppressed as function arguments, because they are always the same for all self-energy functions in a given expression or equation.

B. One-loop and two-loop self-energy integrals

The master integrals for one-loop and two-loop scalar self-energy integrals are as shown in Figure 3.1, following the same notations and conventions as in refs. [48–50]. Thus the (non-renormalized)



FIG. 3.1: Topologies for one-loop and two-loop self-energy and vacuum master integrals in eqs. (3.6)-(3.12), following the same conventions and notations used in refs. [48–50]. The integer labels on the internal lines denote the ordering of internal propagator squared mass arguments.

master integrals at one loop are:

$$\mathbf{A}(x) = \int_{k} \frac{1}{k^2 + x},\tag{3.6}$$

$$\mathbf{B}(x,y) = \int_{k} \frac{1}{[k^2 + x][(k-p)^2 + y]},$$
(3.7)

and at two loops,

$$\mathbf{I}(x,y,z) = \int_{k} \int_{q} \frac{1}{[k^{2}+x][q^{2}+y][(k+q)^{2}+z]},$$
(3.8)

$$\mathbf{S}(x,y,z) = \int_{k} \int_{q} \frac{1}{[k^{2}+x][q^{2}+y][(k+q-p)^{2}+z]},$$
(3.9)

$$\mathbf{T}(x,y,z) = \int_{k} \int_{q} \frac{1}{[k^{2}+x]^{2} [q^{2}+y][(k+q-p)^{2}+z]},$$
(3.10)

$$\mathbf{U}(w, x, y, z) = \int_{k} \int_{q} \frac{1}{[k^{2} + w][(k - p)^{2} + x][q^{2} + y][(k + q - p)^{2} + z]},$$
(3.11)

$$\mathbf{M}(v, w, x, y, z) = \int_{k} \int_{q} \frac{1}{[k^{2} + v][q^{2} + w][(k - p)^{2} + x][(q - p)^{2} + y][(k - q)^{2} + z]}.$$
 (3.12)

Note that the dot on a propagator in the diagram indicates that the propagator is doubled.

Derivatives of the above master integrals with respect to the squared mass arguments are useful. For the one-loop integrals and the two-loop vacuum integral:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\mathbf{A}(x) = (1-\epsilon)\mathbf{A}(x)/x, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\mathbf{B}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\Delta_{sxy}} \left[(1-2\epsilon)(x-y-s)\mathbf{B}(x,y) + (1-\epsilon)\left\{ (x+y-s)\mathbf{A}(x)/x - 2\mathbf{A}(y) \right\} \right], (3.14)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\mathbf{I}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\Delta_{xyz}} \Big[(1-2\epsilon)(x-y-z)\mathbf{I}(x,y,z) + (1-\epsilon) \big\{ (x-y+z)\mathbf{A}(x)\mathbf{A}(y)/x + (x+y-z)\mathbf{A}(x)\mathbf{A}(z)/x - 2\mathbf{A}(y)\mathbf{A}(z) \big\} \Big],$$
(3.15)

where the triangle function is

$$\Delta_{xyz} = x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 2xy - 2xz - 2yz.$$
(3.16)

For the two-loop self-energy integrals, the simplest derivative is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\mathbf{S}(x,y,z) = -\mathbf{T}(x,y,z), \qquad (3.17)$$

since it is merely a definition. The other derivatives of 2-loop integrals with respect to squared mass arguments are somewhat more complicated, and so the complete set of squared mass derivatives of $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B}, \mathbf{I}, \mathbf{S}, \mathbf{T}, \mathbf{U}$, and \mathbf{M} are provided in electronic form in an ancillary file derivs2loopbold, for generic values of the squared masses. Also provided in that file are the derivatives with respect to s, which can be obtained from the squared mass derivatives by dimensional analysis.

Following the protocols given in the Introduction, the renormalized one-loop master integrals are now defined by subtracting the UV divergent parts and taking the limit:

$$A(x) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{A}(x) + x/\epsilon \right] = xL_x - x, \tag{3.18}$$

$$B(x,y) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{B}(x,y) - 1/\epsilon \right] = -\int_0^1 dt \,\overline{\ln}[tx + (1-t)y - t(1-t)s]. \tag{3.19}$$

The first of these equations allows us to trade A(x) for L_x at will, while the second can be easily evaluated analytically. For the two-loop three-propagator renormalized master integral, define [following the general form of eqs. (2.1)-(2.2)]:

$$S(x, y, z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{S}(x, y, z) - S^{1, \operatorname{div}}(x, y, z) - S^{2, \operatorname{div}}(x, y, z) \right],$$
(3.20)

with contributions from one-loop and two-loop UV sub-divergences:

$$S^{1, \operatorname{div}}(x, y, z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left[\mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(z) \right], \qquad (3.21)$$

$$S^{2,\operatorname{div}}(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}(x+y+z) + \frac{1}{2\epsilon}(s/2 - x - y - z).$$
(3.22)

The renormalized integrals I(x, y, z) and T(x, y, z) follow immediately from the above, as

$$I(x, y, z) = S(x, y, z)\Big|_{s=0},$$
(3.23)

$$T(x, y, z) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x} S(x, y, z).$$
(3.24)

Next, define for the four-propagator renormalized integral:

$$U(w, x, y, z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{U}(w, x, y, z) - U^{1, \operatorname{div}}(w, x, y, z) - U^{2, \operatorname{div}}(w, x, y, z) \right],$$
(3.25)

$$U^{1,\operatorname{div}}(w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{B}(w,x), \qquad (3.26)$$

$$U^{2,\operatorname{div}}(w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon}.$$
(3.27)

Finally, the five-propagator two-loop self-energy master integral is free of UV sub-divergences, so

$$M(v, w, x, y, z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathbf{M}(v, w, x, y, z).$$
(3.28)

The derivatives of the renormalized integrals A, B, I, S, T, U, M with respect to each of their squared mass arguments, and s, can all be found in ref. [48]. For convenience, they are also all provided in an ancillary file derivs2looprenorm of the present paper. Also, the implicit dependences of the renormalized integrals on Q are given by:

$$Q^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^2} A(x) = -x, \qquad (3.29)$$

$$Q^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^2} B(x, y) = 1, \qquad (3.30)$$

$$Q^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^{2}} I(x, y, z) = A(x) + A(y) + A(z) - x - y - z, \qquad (3.31)$$

$$Q^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^{2}} S(x, y, z) = A(x) + A(y) + A(z) - x - y - z + s/2, \qquad (3.32)$$

$$Q^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^{2}} T(x, y, z) = -A(x)/x, \qquad (3.33)$$

$$Q^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^{2}} U(w, x, y, z) = 1 + B(w, x), \qquad (3.34)$$

$$Q^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial Q^{2}} M(v, w, x, y, z) = 0.$$
(3.35)

It is also often convenient to define

$$V(w, x, y, z) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x} U(w, x, y, z).$$
(3.36)

Strictly speaking, this is not a master integral unless one of the squared masses vanishes, as it can be expressed in terms of the others (see the ancillary file derivs2looprenorm of the present paper, or eqs. (3.22)-(3.28) of ref. [48], for the explicit form). However, using it often simplifies expressions in practice. Moreover, if one of the squared masses vanishes, then T(0, x, y) has a doubled massless propagator and is therefore IR divergent, so it is not available as an ϵ -finite master integral. However, it can be replaced by either of the ϵ -finite integrals V(x, y, 0, y) or V(y, x, 0, x), or by the integral defined by the finite limit in which the mass-regulated IR divergence is subtracted:

$$\overline{T}(0, x, y) = \lim_{z \to 0} \left[T(z, x, y) + L_z B(x, y) \right].$$
(3.37)

The relation between $\overline{T}(0, x, y)$ and V(x, y, 0, y) is given by (see the Appendix of ref. [51], which contains some similar identities):

$$\overline{T}(0,x,y) = 2y \left[V(x,y,0,y) + (2-L_y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} B(x,y) \right] + T(y,0,x) + L_y B(x,y).$$
(3.38)

For the special case y = x in section VII of the present paper, I will choose to use V(x, x, 0, x) as one of the master integrals. The program TSIL [49] can be used for fast and accurate numerical evaluation of the renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals $A, B, I, S, T, \overline{T}, U, V, M$ for any desired values of the arguments.

There are already several calculations that show by explicit example that the renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals are the only ones needed to express renormalized two-loop self-energy observables in a general theory. These include the self-energies of scalars refs. [51–54], fermions in refs. [55, 56] and the Standard Model W and Z vector bosons in refs. [57, 58]. One might perhaps have thought that the integrals $A_{\epsilon}(x)$ and $B_{\epsilon}(x, y)$ defined by

$$\mathbf{A}(x) = -\frac{x}{\epsilon} + A(x) + \epsilon A_{\epsilon}(x) + \epsilon^2 A_{\epsilon^2}(x) \dots, \qquad (3.39)$$

$$\mathbf{B}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} + B(x,y) + \epsilon B_{\epsilon}(x,y) + \epsilon^2 B_{\epsilon^2}(x,y) + \dots$$
(3.40)

might be necessary. However, this is not the case. In fact, it proved a useful check on the calculations listed above to observe the complete cancellation of A_{ϵ} and B_{ϵ} in the expressions for renormalized quantities. In a similar way, I have checked explicitly in ref. [36] that in the three-loop calculation of scalar and vector boson self-energy functions, one does not need A_{ϵ^2} or B_{ϵ^2} , or the coefficients of positive powers of ϵ in the two-loop functions $\mathbf{I}, \mathbf{S}, \mathbf{T}, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{M}$, either.[†] All occurrences of them cancel. Among the one-loop and two-loop integral functions, only A, B, I, S, T, U, M (and either \overline{T} or V if a squared mass vanishes) are needed for the self-energy expressed in terms of renormalized couplings and masses, even at three-loop order. A similar statement holds for the general three-loop effective potential, as shown explicitly in ref. [61]. This is presumably true at all orders in perturbation theory. It should also hold in on-shell and hybrid type renormalization schemes, since they can be related to the modified minimal subtraction scheme by redefinitions involving renormalized physical quantities.

C. Three-loop self-energy integrals

Consider scalar self-energy functions at three-loop order, which can have the topologies in Fig. 3.2, with denominators arising from arbitrary powers of the propagators shown, and numerators that are polynomials in scalar products of the external 4-momenta p^{μ} , and the loop integration momenta q^{μ} , k^{μ} , r^{μ} . In this paper, I define "candidate master" 3-loop scalar self-energy integrals as follows.

[†] In the particular case of $\mathbf{A}(x)$ and $\mathbf{B}(x, y)$, the expansions to all orders in ϵ are known; see ref. [64] for the latter in terms of Nielsen polylogarithms. The point being made here is that these should never be needed.



FIG. 3.2: Topologies for three-loop self-energy and vacuum scalar integrals. The integer labels on the internal lines denote the ordering of propagator squared mass arguments adopted in this paper. The vacuum integrals F, G, and H follow the conventions also used in refs. [50] and [61]. For the self-energy integrals with names containing I, the first (integer) subscript in the name is the number of internal propagator lines. Not shown are topologies that factorize into products of 1-loop and 2-loop integrals.

First, we have three 8-propagator scalar integrals

$$\mathbf{I}_{8a}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_7, x_8) = \int_q \int_k \int_r \left\{ [q^2 + x_1] [k^2 + x_2] [r^2 + x_3] [(r-p)^2 + x_4] \right\}^{-1}$$
(3.41)

$$\mathbf{I}_{8b}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_7, x_8) = \int_q \int_k \int_r \left\{ [q^2 + x_1] [k^2 + x_2] [r^2 + x_3] [(r-p)^2 + x_4] \right\}^{-1}$$

$$[(q-p)^{2} + x_{5}][(q-k)^{2} + x_{6}][(k-r)^{2} + x_{7}][(k-p)^{2} + x_{8}]\Big\}^{-1}$$
(3.42)

$$\mathbf{I}_{8c}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_7, x_8) = \int_q \int_k \int_r \left\{ [q^2 + x_1] [k^2 + x_2] [r^2 + x_3] [(r-p)^2 + x_4] \right] \\ [(q-p)^2 + x_5] [(q-k)^2 + x_6] [(k-r)^2 + x_7] [(q+r-k-p)^2 + x_8] \right\}^{-1},$$
(3.43)

as depicted in the top row of Figure 3.2. The last of these has a non-planar topology.

Besides the 8-propagator integrals, it is necessary to also include all integrals obtained from them by removing one of more of the scalar propagator factors, as shown in the remaining rows of Figure 3.2. In particular, this figure defines the 7-propagator integrals labeled \mathbf{I}_{7a} , \mathbf{I}_{7b} , \mathbf{I}_{7c} , \mathbf{I}_{7d} , and \mathbf{I}_{7e} , the 6-propagator integrals shown in the third and fourth rows, the 5-propagator integrals in the fifth row, and the 4-propagator integrals in the sixth row. In each case, the ordering of the squared mass arguments x_1, x_2, \ldots , is indicated by the integer labels. The external momentum invariant s and the renormalization scale Q are the same in each case, so they are not included explicitly in the list of arguments.

However, the integrals just defined (with unit numerator, and denominators with only single powers of propagators) are not sufficient. In addition, the list of candidate master integrals includes all integrals obtained from the ones shown by doubling one of the propagators, which is the same as taking the negative of the derivative with respect to the corresponding squared mass argument. This is indicated by adding the corresponding integer to the end of the subscript in the integral name, for example:

$$\mathbf{I}_{41}(w, x, y, z) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial w} \mathbf{I}_4(w, x, y, z), \qquad (3.44)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{5a1}(v, w, x, y, z) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \mathbf{I}_{5a}(v, w, x, y, z), \qquad (3.45)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6c5}(u, v, w, x, y, z) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial y} \mathbf{I}_{6c}(u, v, w, x, y, z).$$
(3.46)

However, for the eight-propagator integrals, I find that derivatives of \mathbf{I}_{8a} and \mathbf{I}_{8b} are never necessary, and only one of the two distinct derivatives of \mathbf{I}_{8c} is necessary, which can be chosen to be \mathbf{I}_{8c1} . Besides the preceding, a few other integrals are useful in the general case. For the four-propagator topology only, define an integral with both of the first two propagators doubled:

$$\mathbf{I}_{412}(w, x, y, z) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w \partial x} \mathbf{I}_4(w, x, y, z), \qquad (3.47)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{411}(w, x, y, z) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w^2} \mathbf{I}_4(w, x, y, z).$$
(3.48)

Finally, for the non-planar 8-propagator topology (8c) only, it is evidently necessary (see, for example, the case of all masses equal, considered in section V below) to define a master integral with $p \cdot k$ in the integrand numerator:

$$\mathbf{I}_{8c}^{pk}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_7, x_8) = \int_q \int_k \int_r p \cdot k \left\{ [q^2 + x_1] [k^2 + x_2] [r^2 + x_3] [(r-p)^2 + x_4] \right\} \\ [(q-p)^2 + x_5] [(q-k)^2 + x_6] [(k-r)^2 + x_7] [(q+r-k-p)^2 + x_8] \right\}^{-1}.$$
(3.49)

Together with products of 1-loop and 2-loop integrals, this concludes[‡] the listing of the 3-loop candidate master self-energy integrals. Not all of these will be linearly independent, so the number of actual master integrals will always be smaller, depending on the choice of squared mass arguments. Also, integrals with IR divergences cannot be ϵ -finite masters. The IR divergent cases include any integral with a doubled massless propagator, and also integrals $\mathbf{I}_{7d}(x_1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ for any x_1 , and $\mathbf{I}_{8a}(0, 0, 0, x_4, x_5, 0, 0, 0)$ for any x_4 and x_5 . The choice of the masters from among the candidate masters is not unique. Furthermore, the possibility of identities that could eliminate one or more of the putative masters is not always easy to rule out. However, it does no harm (except, in some cases, some avoidable complication) to include extra masters beyond a minimal set. In some cases, including extra masters may lead to more compact expressions.

I now proceed to define the renormalized ϵ -finite masters. First, for the vacuum integrals F(w, x, y, z), G(v, w, x, y, z), and H(u, v, w, x, y, z), the definitions have already been provided in section II of ref. [50], and also coincide with the definitions given below for $I_{41}(w, x, y, z)$, $I_{5a}(v, w, x, y, z)$, and $I_{6d}(u, v, x, w, z, y)$ with s = 0. The program 3VIL provides for the fast and accurate evaluation of the functions F, G, and H with arbitrary arguments, including various special cases given originally in refs. [65–80]. For another approach to the numerical calculation of three-loop vacuum and self-energy integrals with general masses, see refs. [81] and [82] respectively.

For the four-propagator self-energy integral [compare to the general form of eqs. (2.1)-(2.2)]:

$$I_4(w, x, y, z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[\mathbf{I}_4(w, x, y, z) - \mathbf{I}_4^{1, \text{div}}(w, x, y, z) - \mathbf{I}_4^{2, \text{div}}(w, x, y, z) - \mathbf{I}_4^{3, \text{div}}(w, x, y, z) \right], \quad (3.50)$$

where the 1-loop, 2-loop, and 3-loop UV sub-divergence subtractions are:

$$\mathbf{I}_{4}^{1,\mathrm{div}}(w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \Big[\mathbf{A}(w)\mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(w)\mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(w)\mathbf{A}(z) + \mathbf{A}(x)\mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(x)\mathbf{A}(z) \\ + \mathbf{A}(y)\mathbf{A}(z) \Big],$$
(3.51)

[‡] Integrals that would be redundant by symmetry are not included; for example, there is no \mathbf{I}_{5a3} , because $\mathbf{I}_{5a3}(v, w, x, y, z)$ would be the same as $\mathbf{I}_{5a2}(v, x, w, y, z)$.

$$\mathbf{I}_{4}^{2,\mathrm{div}}(w,x,y,z) = \left\{ \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon}\right)(x+y+z) + \frac{1}{4\epsilon}(s+w) \right\} \mathbf{A}(w) + (\mathrm{three \ permutations}), (3.52)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{4}^{3,\text{div}}(w,x,y,z) = \frac{s^{2}}{36\epsilon} + \left(\frac{1}{6\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{1}{8\epsilon}\right)s(w+x+y+z) + \left(\frac{1}{6\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{3}{8\epsilon}\right)(w^{2}+x^{2}+y^{2}+z^{2}) \\ + \left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right)(wx+wy+wz+xy+xz+yz).$$
(3.53)

The expressions for the renormalized integrals I_{41} , I_{411} , and I_{412} are easily obtained from the above by taking derivatives with respect to the squared mass arguments, following from eqs. (3.44), (3.47) and (3.48), by making use of eq. (3.13).

The remaining renormalized masters are constructed in an entirely analogous way. For the five-propagator integrals, the subtractions before taking the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ are:

$$\mathbf{I}_{5a}^{1,\text{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \big[\mathbf{S}(v,w,x) + \mathbf{S}(v,y,z) \big],$$
(3.54)

$$\mathbf{I}_{5a}^{2,\mathrm{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{\epsilon^2}\mathbf{A}(v) + \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \left[\mathbf{A}(w) + \mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(z)\right], \quad (3.55)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{5a}^{3,\text{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = \left(-\frac{1}{6\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{12\epsilon}\right)s + \left(-\frac{1}{6\epsilon^3} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon}\right)(w+x+y+z) \\ + \left(-\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right)v,$$
(3.56)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{5b}^{1,\text{div}}(v, w, x, y, z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \big[\mathbf{S}(v, w, x) + \mathbf{I}(v, y, z) \big],$$
(3.57)

$$\mathbf{I}_{5b}^{2,\text{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{\epsilon^2}\mathbf{A}(v) + \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \left[\mathbf{A}(w) + \mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(z)\right], \quad (3.58)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{5b}^{3,\text{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = \left(-\frac{1}{12\epsilon^2} + \frac{5}{24\epsilon}\right)s + \left(-\frac{1}{6\epsilon^3} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon}\right)(w+x+y+z) \\ + \left(-\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right)v,$$
(3.59)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{5c}^{1,\mathrm{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{B}(v,w) \left[\mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(z) \right],$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{5c}^{2,\mathrm{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{4\epsilon} \mathbf{A}(v) + \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \left[\mathbf{A}(x) + \mathbf{A}(y) + \mathbf{A}(z) \right]$$

$$+ \left[\left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon}\right) (x + y + z) + \frac{1}{4\epsilon} w \right] \mathbf{B}(v,w),$$
(3.61)

$$\mathbf{I}_{5c}^{3,\text{div}}(v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{12\epsilon}s + \left(-\frac{1}{6\epsilon^2} + \frac{3}{8\epsilon}\right)(v+w) + \left(-\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} + \frac{2}{3\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right)(x+y+z).$$
(3.62)

Again the corresponding expressions for I_{5a1} , I_{5a2} ,... are obtained from the above by taking derivatives with respect to the appropriate squared mass arguments in the obvious way, making

use of eqs. (3.13)-(3.15) and (3.17).

The subtractions for the six-propagator three-loop self-energy integrals are given by

$$\mathbf{I}_{6a}^{1,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \big[\mathbf{U}(u,v,w,x) + \mathbf{U}(u,v,y,z) \big],$$
(3.63)

$$\mathbf{I}_{6a}^{2,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \mathbf{B}(u,v), \qquad (3.64)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6a}^{3,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon}, \qquad (3.65)$$

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{6b}^{1,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \big[\mathbf{U}(u,v,y,z) + \mathbf{U}(v,u,w,x) \big],$$
(3.66)

$$\mathbf{I}_{6b}^{2,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = -\frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \mathbf{B}(u,v), \qquad (3.67)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6b}^{3,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon},$$
(3.68)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{6c}^{1,\mathrm{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{U}(u,v,w,x), \qquad (3.69)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6c}^{2,\text{div}}(u, v, w, x, y, z) = \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \mathbf{B}(u, v), \qquad (3.70)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6c}^{3,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{6\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{2}{3\epsilon},$$
(3.71)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{6d}^{1,\text{div}}(u, v, w, x, y, z) = \mathbf{I}_{6d}^{2,\text{div}}(u, v, w, x, y, z) = 0,$$
(3.72)

$$\mathbf{I}_{6d}^{3,\text{div}}(u, v, w, x, y, z) = 2\zeta_3/\epsilon, \tag{3.73}$$

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{6e}^{1,\mathrm{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{U}(v,w,u,x), \qquad (3.74)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6e}^{2,\mathrm{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \mathbf{B}(v,w), \qquad (3.75)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6e}^{3,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{6\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{2}{3\epsilon},$$
(3.76)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{6f}^{1,\mathrm{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{B}(u,v) \mathbf{B}(w,x), \qquad (3.77)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6f}^{2,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \left(\frac{1}{2\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2}\right) \left[\mathbf{B}(u,v) + \mathbf{B}(w,x)\right],\tag{3.78}$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{6f}^{3,\text{div}}(u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon}.$$
(3.79)

Again the corresponding expressions for I_{6a1} , I_{6a3} ,... are obtained from the above by taking derivatives with respect to the appropriate squared mass arguments, making use of eq. (3.14) and the corresponding formulas for the derivatives of **U**, which can be found in the ancillary file derivs2loopbold.

For the seven-propagator three-loop integrals, only \mathbf{I}_{7c} and \mathbf{I}_{7e} have UV divergences. The corresponding subtractions are:

$$\mathbf{I}_{7c}^{1,\text{div}}(t, u, v, w, x, y, z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{M}(t, u, w, v, x), \qquad (3.80)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{7c}^{2,\text{div}}(t, u, v, w, x, y, z) = \mathbf{I}_{7c}^{3,\text{div}}(t, u, v, w, x, y, z) = 0, \qquad (3.81)$$

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{7e}^{1,\text{div}}(t,u,v,w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{M}(t,w,u,v,x), \qquad (3.82)$$

$$\mathbf{I}_{7e}^{2,\text{div}}(t, u, v, w, x, y, z) = \mathbf{I}_{7e}^{3,\text{div}}(t, u, v, w, x, y, z) = 0.$$
(3.83)

The corresponding expressions for I_{7c1} , I_{7c3} ,... are obtained by making use of the formulas for the derivatives of **M** with respect to its squared mass arguments, as given in the ancillary file derivs2loopbold.

There are no UV divergences, and therefore no subtractions, for the seven-propagator candidate masters \mathbf{I}_{7a} , \mathbf{I}_{7b} , \mathbf{I}_{7d} , and the eight-propagator integrals \mathbf{I}_{8a} , \mathbf{I}_{8b} , \mathbf{I}_{8c} , and \mathbf{I}_{8c}^{pk} . The renormalized ϵ -finite candidate masters I_{7a} , I_{7b} , I_{7d} , I_{8a} , I_{8b} , I_{8c} , and I_{8c}^{pk} are therefore just the $\epsilon \to 0$ limits of the bold-faced integrals. The same holds for arbitrary derivatives of them with respect to their squared mass arguments.

The renormalized masters that required UV subtractions depend on the scale Q, although this dependence is suppressed from the list of arguments. The results for $Q \frac{\partial}{\partial Q}$ are determined by the above definitions, and are given in an ancillary file QddQ provided with this paper.

One approach is to treat all squared masses as completely generic, in which case IR divergences are regularized by the non-zero values assigned to gauge bosons and chiral fermions, which can be sent to zero at the end of calculation. If, on the other hand, we impose special relations among the masses (typically, that some of them vanish, and/or that others are equal to each other) then expressions can be much simpler but it is not completely trivial to choose an ϵ -finite basis for the master integrals. We will do this in some notable special cases in sections IV, V, VI, and VII.

To conclude this section, note that the relationship between the original (bold-faced) and renormalized integrals can of course be inverted, in an expansion in ϵ . For example, for the fourpropagator self-energy integral, one can write:

$$\mathbf{I}_{4}(w,x,y,z) = \frac{1}{\epsilon^{3}}I_{4}^{(-3)}(w,x,y,z) + \frac{1}{\epsilon^{2}}I_{4}^{(-2)}(w,x,y,z) + \frac{1}{\epsilon}I_{4}^{(-1)}(w,x,y,z) + I_{4}^{(0)}(w,x,y,z) + \dots$$
(3.84)

where

$$\begin{split} I_{4}^{(-3)}(w,x,y,z) &= (wx + wy + wz + xy + xz + yz)/3, \\ I_{4}^{(-2)}(w,x,y,z) &= -s(w + x + y + z)/12 - (w^{2} + x^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2})/12 \\ &\quad + (wx + wy + xy + wz + xz + yz)/3 - \left[(x + y + z)A(w) + (w + y + z)A(x) + (w + x + z)A(y) + (w + x + y)A(z)\right]/2, \\ I_{4}^{(-1)}(w,x,y,z) &= s^{2}/36 - s(w + x + y + z)/8 - 3(w^{2} + x^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2})/8 \\ &\quad + (wx + wy + wz + xy + xz + yz)/3 + (s + w - 2x - 2y - 2z)A(w)/4 \\ &\quad + (s + x - 2w - 2y - 2z)A(x)/4 + (s + y - 2w - 2x - 2y)A(y)/4 \\ &\quad + (s + z - 2w - 2x - 2y)A(z)/4 + A(w)A(x) + A(w)A(y) + A(w)A(z) \\ &\quad + A(x)A(y) + A(x)A(z) + A(y)A(z) - (x + y + z)A_{\epsilon}(w)/2 \\ &\quad - (w + y + z)A_{\epsilon}(x)/2 - (w + x + z)A_{\epsilon}(y)/2 - (w + x + y)A_{\epsilon}(z)/2, \\ &\quad I_{4}^{(0)}(w,x,y,z) = I_{4}(w,x,y,z) + s[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon}(x) + A_{\epsilon}(y) + A_{\epsilon}(z)]/4 \\ &\quad + A(w)[A_{\epsilon}(x) + A_{\epsilon}(y) + A_{\epsilon}(z)] + A(x)[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon}(x)] + A_{\epsilon}(y)] \\ &\quad - (x + y + z)[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon}(z)] + A(z)[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon}(x) + A_{\epsilon}(z)]/2 \\ &\quad - (w + x + z)[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon^{2}}(w)]/2 - (w + x + y)[A_{\epsilon}(z) + A_{\epsilon^{2}}(z)]/2 \\ &\quad - (w + x + z)[A_{\epsilon}(w) + A_{\epsilon^{2}}(y)]/2 - (w + x + y)[A_{\epsilon}(z) + A_{\epsilon^{2}}(z)]/2 \\ &\quad + [wA_{\epsilon}(w) + xA_{\epsilon}(x) + yA_{\epsilon}(y) + zA_{\epsilon}(z)]/4. \end{aligned}$$

However, I emphasize that integral functions like $I_4^{(0)}$, which occur as the coefficient of ϵ^0 in the expansion of the original integrals, are quite sub-optimal for expressing results for renormalized physical quantities. This is because writing 3-loop results in terms of such integrals requires that the expressions will also include $A_{\epsilon}(x)$, $A_{\epsilon^2}(x)$, as can be seen from eq. (3.88). Similarly, for quantities with five or more propagators, $B_{\epsilon}(x, y)$, $B_{\epsilon^2}(x, y)$, $S_{\epsilon}(x, y, z)$ etc. will appear, which involve the coefficients of positive powers of ϵ from integrals at lower loop order than the calculation being performed. The big advantage of organizing results in terms of the renormalized ϵ -finite integrals like $I_4(w, x, y, z)$ is that such coefficients of positive powers of ϵ are never needed. This property should persist to arbitrary loop order.

D. Numerical evaluation by differential equations

For the case of self-energy renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals, the derivatives with respect to s can be expressed as linear combinations of them:

$$\frac{d}{ds}I_j = \sum_k c_{jk}I_k, \qquad (3.89)$$

where the coefficients c_{jk} are rational functions of s and the internal propagator squared masses. (Note that the c_{jk} do not depend on ϵ in this approach, since the I_j are independent of ϵ by construction.) Once these coefficients have been found, as we will do below in various special



FIG. 3.3: Path in the complex s plane for numerical integration of first-order coupled differential equations for the master integrals. The integration starts at $s = s_0$ chosen within the domain of convergence of the small-s series expansion. The contour avoids singular points in the differential equations (shown here as occurring at s = 4t, 9t, and 16t, as in section V) by proceeding in the upper-half complex plane, giving the correct branch cut for an infinitesimal imaginary part of s at the end of the path.

cases, then one can solve the coupled first-order differential equations numerically, using a Runge-Kutta or similar algorithm.

The initial boundary conditions for the numerical integration of the differential equations can be obtained at or near s = 0. If s = 0 is not a threshold for any of the master integrals under consideration, then the initial boundary conditions can typically be set at s = 0 in terms of the vacuum integral masters, available in the notation of the present paper from ref. [50], incorporating some original analytic calculations for special cases from refs. [65–80]. If s = 0 is a threshold for one or more of the masters, then one can instead choose an initial boundary condition at some small s_0 . To do so, the self-energy masters can be written as a series expansion in small s, with coefficients obtained using the same differential equations (3.89) and expressed in terms of the vacuum integral masters. The initial conditions are then evaluated at an appropriate $s = s_0$ within the radius of convergence of the series.

In order to obtain the correct imaginary parts of the masters, one can follow the strategy introduced in ref. [45, 46] by using a contour in the upper-half complex plane for the Runge-Kutta integration, thus avoiding branch cuts and other special points on the Im[s] = 0 line, as shown in Figure 3.3. This procedure is the one used by the program TSIL [49], to find the two-loop self-energy renormalized masters for general squared masses.

I have constructed a similar (but not particularly well-optimized) mathematica program to compute the three-loop master integrals for the special cases considered in sections V, VI, and VII below. (It is left as an exercise for the reader to do the same.) In principle, this should be straightforward in more general cases, although the coefficients will be considerably more complicated and some optimization (including partial fraction decomposition of coefficient functions, and certain specialized Runge-Kutta routines designed to minimize numerical problems and improve calculation speed near thresholds) may be needed.

There are several advantages of the numerical evaluation method outlined above. First, all of the masters descended from a given topology are obtained simultaneously as the result of a single calculation. Second, the Runge-Kutta method (and refinements thereof) tends to be faster and more accurate than multi-dimensional integral methods. Third, changing the contour in the upper-half complex s plane allows for consistency checks and numerical error estimates.

IV. THE CASE OF MASSLESS INTERNAL PROPAGATORS

In this section, I review the case that all internal masses vanish, where the integrals are all known analytically. This will help to illustrate the connection between the general notation and the known results in this special case.

With all vanishing masses, the renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals do not include doubled propagators, as these are IR divergent. The scalar integrals for the topologies I_{7d} and I_{8a} are also easily seen to be IR divergent, despite not having doubled massless propagators. By using the IBP relations and known results [7, 8, 83–86], one finds that there are only four independent renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals. They can be chosen to be B, M, I_{6d} , and I_{7a} , although there are clearly other equally valid choices. In terms of them, the renormalized ϵ -finite candidate master scalar integrals are (suppressing all internal squared mass arguments in this section, since they all vanish):

$$B = 2 - L_{-s}, (4.1)$$

$$S = s \left(B/2 + 5/8 \right), \tag{4.2}$$

$$U = B^2/2 + B + 3/2,, (4.3)$$

$$M = -6\zeta_3/s, \tag{4.4}$$

$$I_4 = s^2 \left(B/12 + 35/216 \right), \tag{4.5}$$

$$I_{5a} = s \left(\frac{B^2}{2} + \frac{3B}{2} + \frac{47}{24} \right), \qquad (4.6)$$

$$I_{5b} = s \left(\frac{B^2}{4} + \frac{5B}{4} + \frac{103}{48} \right), \tag{4.7}$$

$$I_{5c} = -s \left(\frac{B}{4} + \frac{13}{24} \right), \tag{4.8}$$

$$I_{6a} = B^3/3 + B^2 + 2B + 2\zeta_3/3 + 5/3, \tag{4.9}$$

$$I_{6b} = B^3/3 + B^2 + 2B - 4\zeta_3/3 + 5/3, \tag{4.10}$$

$$I_{6c} = B^3/6 + B^2 + 7B/2 - 2\zeta_3/3 + 14/3,$$
(4.11)

$$I_{6d} = 3\zeta_4 + 6\zeta_3 B, (4.12)$$

$$I_{6e} = B^3/6 + B^2 + 7B/2 - 14\zeta_3/3 + 14/3,$$
(4.13)

$$I_{6f} = B^3/3 + B^2 + B + 14\zeta_3/3 - 7/3, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$I_{7a} = I_{7b} = -20\zeta_5/s, \tag{4.15}$$

$$I_{7c} = I_{7e} = -6\zeta_3 B/s, (4.16)$$

$$I_{8b} = I_{8c} = 20\zeta_5/s^2, (4.17)$$

$$I_{8c}^{pk} = -5\zeta_5/s. (4.18)$$

Alternatively, the independent master integral quantities can be taken to be $L_{-s} \equiv \overline{\ln}(s) - i\pi$ from 1-loop order, ζ_3 at two-loop order, and ζ_4 and ζ_5 at three-loop order.

The integrals I_{7d} and I_{8a} can also be evaluated with the results

$$sI_{7d} = -s^2 I_{8a} = 3\zeta_4 + \zeta_3 \left(\frac{2}{\epsilon_{\rm IR}} + 6B - 12\right).$$
 (4.19)

Here the $1/\epsilon_{\rm IR}$ poles remain uncanceled (there are no UV sub-divergences, and thus no countert-

erms, for I_{7d} and I_{8a}), reflecting the aforementioned IR divergences in each case. In expressions for physical observables, the fact that IR divergences must be absent ensures that these integrals can always be eliminated in favor of the ϵ -finite master integrals. More generally, ζ_4 (or equivalently I_{6d}) also cancels from the self-energy function contributions from massless particles in gauge theories; the amusing absence of ζ_n with even n has been noted in various contexts in e.g. [86–91].

V. THE CASE OF ALL INTERNAL PROPAGATOR MASSES EQUAL

Next, consider the case that all of the internal propagators have the same squared mass, which will be called t. In this case, there are no IR divergences, so all renormalized candidate masters are ϵ -finite. By applying the IBP relations, I find that all renormalized self-energy integrals (including those with arbitrary momentum polynomials in the numerators) up to three-loop order can be written in terms of the following renormalized ϵ -finite masters:

$$\mathcal{I}_1 = \{A, B\}, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_2 = \{I, S, T, U, M\},$$
(5.2)

$$\mathcal{I}_{3} = \{G, H, I_{4}, I_{41}, I_{411}, I_{5a}, I_{5a1}, I_{5a2}, I_{5b}, I_{5b1}, I_{5b2}, I_{5c}, I_{6a}, I_{6b}, I_{6c}, I_{6d}, I_{6d1}, I_{6e}, I_{6e1}, I_{6f}, I_{7a}, I_{7a1}, I_{7a3}, I_{7b}, I_{7b1}, I_{7b2}, I_{7b4}, I_{7c}, I_{7c1}, I_{7d}, I_{7d1}, I_{7e}, I_{7e3}, I_{8a}, I_{8b}, I_{8c}, I_{8c1}, I_{8c}^{pk}\}.$$
(5.3)

The squared mass arguments are suppressed again in this section, because they are all equal. The remaining candidate master integrals

$$\{F, I_{412}, I_{5b4}, I_{5c1}, I_{5c2}, I_{5c3}, I_{6a1}, I_{6a2}, I_{6a3}, I_{6b1}, I_{6b3}, I_{6c1}, I_{6c2}, I_{6c3}, I_{6c4}, I_{6c5}, I_{6c5}, I_{6d2}, I_{6d6}, I_{6e2}, I_{6e3}, I_{6e4}, I_{6e5}, I_{6f1}, I_{6f5}, I_{7a5}, I_{7a7}, I_{7b6}, I_{7c5}, I_{7c6}, I_{7d2}, I_{7d3}, I_{7d7}, I_{7e1}, I_{7e2}, I_{7e4}, I_{7e5}, I_{7e6}\}$$

$$(5.4)$$

are solved in terms of the masters, with results given in the ancillary file Iallmassive. The derivatives $s\frac{d}{ds}$ of the masters are also provided in an ancillary file Iallmassivesdds. The choice of masters above is somewhat arbitrary, but has been made in such a way as to make denominators simple, with factors of s - 4t, s - 9t, and s - 16t corresponding to the threshold singularities from 2-particle, 3-particle, and 4-particle cuts respectively. However, also present in a few cases in the expressions for $s\frac{d}{ds}$ of the masters and for the solved integrals are denominator factors s - t, s - 3t, s + 8t, and $s^2 - 8st + 4t^2$, which do not correspond to true thresholds. (These denominator factors could be eliminated at the expense of increasing the set of masters to a larger overcomplete set with some algebraic identities relating them, but there is no great advantage gained by doing so.)

It is now straightforward to obtain series solutions to the first-order differential equation in s, using boundary conditions given at s = 0 by the known vacuum integrals,

$$I(t,t,t) = t \left(3c_I - \frac{15}{2} + 6L_t - \frac{3}{2}L_t^2 \right),$$
(5.5)

$$F(t,t,t,t) = t\left(\frac{53}{12} + \frac{13}{4}L_t - 4L_t^2 + L_t^3\right),$$
(5.6)

$$G(t,t,t,t,t) = t \left[12c_I - \frac{97}{3} + 6\zeta_3 + (26 - 6c_I)L_t - 8L_t^2 + L_t^3 \right],$$
(5.7)

$$H(t, t, t, t, t, t) = c_H + 6\zeta_3(1 - L_t),$$
(5.8)

with

$$c_I \equiv \sqrt{3} \operatorname{Im} \left[\operatorname{Li}_2(e^{2\pi i/3}) \right] = 1.1719536193...,$$
 (5.9)

$$c_H \equiv 16 \operatorname{Li}_4(1/2) - 17\zeta_4 + \frac{2}{3} \ln^2(2) [\ln^2(2) - \pi^2] - 3c_I^2 = 17.2476198987....$$
(5.10)

Defining r = s/t, I have obtained power series solutions convergent for |r| < 4. (The physical reason for this range of convergence is that the point r = 4 corresponds to the lowest 2-particle cut threshold.) The series results up to order r^{36} , for the masters in eqs. (5.1)-(5.3) as well as the solved integrals in eq. (5.4), are given in the ancillary file Iallmassiveseries. The coefficients in these series involve only rational numbers and the constants ζ_3 , c_I , and c_H . The only appearances of the constant c_H are in H itself and in the r^0 term in the expansion of I_{6d} .

For general s not necessarily small compared to 4t, a numerical integration of the coupled first order differential equations for the integrals in eqs. (5.1)-(5.3), starting from the series solution at s = 0.5 (for example) as the initial condition, is sufficient to quickly obtain accurate numerical results, as explained in section IIID. As a check, I have verified numerically that the results for $s \gg t$ indeed asymptotically approach those given in eqs. (4.1)-(4.18) in the previous section. A few examples of results for dimensionless (6-propagator) integrals as a function of s are shown in Figure 5.1, for the case $t = Q^2 = 1$. The integral I_{6f} has a two-particle cut threshold at s = 4, leading to cuspy behavior near that point. The integrals I_{5a2} and I_{6d} have three-particle cut thresholds at s = 9. The integral I_{411} has a relatively smooth four-particle cut threshold at s = 16. (The large s asymptotic limits of the previous section for I_{6d} and I_{6f} are accurately realized only for s much larger than the ranges shown in the figures.)

Another way of obtaining numerical results for general s for integrals with a single internal mass scale is to make series expansions (in general, with square root and logarithmic factors) about the threshold points s = 4t (two massive particle cut) and 9t (three massive particle cut) and 16t (four massive particle cut) and ∞ . The coefficients in these series expansions can then be determined by matching at points within the common range of convergence of pairs of series, starting from the analytically known series coefficients for the expansion about s = 0. However, it does not seem so easy to generalize this method to the case of arbitrary different internal propagator squared masses for all s, and so the results will not be pursued here.



FIG. 5.1: Sample results, for the dimensionless integrals I_{411} , I_{5a2} , I_{6d} , and I_{6f} , with all propagator squared masses and the renormalization scale Q set equal to unity $(t = Q^2 = 1)$, as a function of the external momentum invariant s. The results were obtained by numerical solution of the coupled firstorder differential equations in s as provided in the ancillary file Iallmassivesdds, starting from the series solution provided in the file Iallmassiveseries. In each case, the blue (heavier) line is the real part, and the red (lighter) line is the imaginary part. The lowest threshold is at s = 16 (four-particle cut) for I_{411} , at s = 9 (three-particle cut) for I_{5a2} and I_{6d} , and at s = 4 (two-particle cut) for I_{6f} .

VI. INTEGRALS WITH ODD THRESHOLDS

In any unbroken gauge theory (such as QED or QCD) with massive and massless fermions and massless gauge bosons, the allowed interaction vertices have an even number of massive lines. Consider a self-energy diagram topology with a single internal propagator squared mass scale called t (in honor of the top quark), with the other internal propagators massless. The cuts of the diagram will correspond to thresholds at $s = n^2 t$, where the n are either all even integers n = 0, 2, 4, or else all odd integers n = 1, 3. Furthermore, it is easy to see that all descendants of the diagram obtained by removing internal propagators will have the same property.

In this section, I consider three-loop self energy integrals with possible thresholds only at s = t and/or s = 9t, which are referred to here as "odd threshold" integrals. These are the ones that can arise in QCD corrections to the self energies of the W boson in which the W boson couples to t, b,



FIG. 6.1: The odd-threshold single-mass three-loop self-energy topologies considered (along with their descendants) in section VI. The heavy solid internal lines represent propagators with squared mass t, and the dashed lines represent massless propagators.

with the bottom quark treated as massless. They arise from diagram topologies corresponding to the scalar integrals

$$I_{8a}(0,0,0,t,t,0,0,0), \quad I_{8a}(t,t,t,0,0,0,0,0), \quad I_{8a}(t,0,t,0,0,t,t,0), \\I_{8a}(0,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), \quad I_{8b}(0,0,0,t,t,0,0,t), \quad I_{8c}(0,0,0,t,t,0,0,t),$$
(6.1)

as depicted in Figure 6.1, and their descendants obtained by removing internal lines in all possible ways. Note that these six 8-propagator topologies are linked by a variety of common descendants.

Applying the IBP identities, I find that all scalar self-energy functions with these topologies can be expressed in terms of the one-loop, two-loop, and three-loop renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals:

$$\mathcal{I}^{(1)} = \{A(t), B(0,t)\},$$
(6.2)

$$\mathcal{I}^{(2)} = \{S(0,0,t), S(t,t,t), U(t,0,t,t), M(0,0,t,t,0)\},$$
(6.3)

$$\mathcal{I}^{(3)} = \{H(0,0,t,0,t,t), H(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_4(0,t,t,t), I_{5a}(t,0,0,t,t), I_{5b1}(t,t,t,0,t), I_{6a}(t,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6b1}(t,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d}(0,0,t,0,t,0), I_{6d}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,0,0), I_{6d}(t,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d}(t,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,t), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,t), I_{6e}(t,0,t,0,0,t), I_{6e}(t,t,0,t,t,t), I_{6f}(0,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6e}(0,0,t,t,t,0), I_{7a}(0,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6e}(t,0,0,0,0), I_{7a}(0,t,0,0,0,t), I_{7a}(t,t,t,0,0,0,t), I_{7a}(t,t,t,0,0,0,0), I_{7a}(0,t,0,0,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{7d}(0,t,0,t,0,0,0,0,0), I_{8b}(0,0,0,t,t,0,0,t), I_{8c}(0,0,0,t,t,0,0,0,0), I_{8b}(t,0,0,0,0,0)\}.$$
(6.4)

For the other candidate master integrals, the solutions (obtained from repeated use of the IBP

relations) in terms of the masters above are given in an ancillary file Iodd. The complete[†] list of such solved renormalized ϵ -finite candidate master integrals is:

 $\{I(0,t,t), T(t,0,0), T(t,t,t), U(0,t,0,t), U(t,0,0,0), F(t,0,0,t), F(t,t,t,t), \}$ $G(0,0,0,t,t), G(0,t,t,t,t), G(t,0,t,0,t), I_4(0,0,0,t), I_{41}(t,0,0,0), I_{41}(t,0,t,t),$ $I_{411}(t, 0, 0, 0), I_{411}(t, 0, t, t), I_{412}(t, t, 0, t), I_{5a}(0, 0, t, 0, t), I_{5a}(t, 0, 0, 0, 0), I_{5a}(t, t, t, t, t),$ $I_{5a1}(t,0,0,0,0), I_{5a1}(t,0,0,t,t), I_{5a1}(t,t,t,t,t), I_{5a2}(0,t,0,0,t), I_{5a2}(t,t,t,0,0),$ $I_{5a2}(t,t,t,t,t), I_{5b}(0,0,t,0,0), I_{5b}(0,0,t,t,t), I_{5b}(t,0,0,0,t), I_{5b}(t,t,t,0,t),$ $I_{5b1}(t, 0, 0, 0, t), I_{5b2}(0, t, 0, 0, 0), I_{5b2}(0, t, 0, t, t), I_{5b2}(t, t, t, 0, t), I_{5b4}(0, 0, t, t, t),$ $I_{5b4}(t,0,0,t,0), \ I_{5b4}(t,t,t,t,0), \ I_{5c}(0,t,0,0,t), \ I_{5c}(0,t,t,t,t), \ I_{5c}(t,0,0,0,0),$ $I_{5c}(t,0,0,t,t), I_{5c3}(0,t,t,0,0), I_{5c3}(0,t,t,t,t), I_{5c3}(t,0,t,0,t), I_{5c2}(0,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{5c2}(0,t,t,t,t), I_{5c1}(t,0,0,0,0), I_{5c1}(t,0,0,t,t), I_{6a}(0,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6a}(t,0,0,0,0,0),$ $I_{6a1}(t,0,0,0,0,0), I_{6a1}(t,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6a2}(0,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6a3}(0,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6a3}(t,0,t,t,0,0), I_{6a3}(t,0,t,t,0), I_{6a3}(t,0,t,t,0),$ $I_{6b}(0,t,0,0,0,t), I_{6b}(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6b1}(t,0,0,t,0,0), I_{6b3}(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6b3}(t,0,t,0,0,0),$ $I_{6b3}(t,0,t,0,t,t),\ I_{6c}(0,t,0,t,0,t),\ I_{6c}(0,t,t,0,0,0),\ I_{6c}(0,t,t,0,t,t),\ I_{6c}(t,0,0,0,0,0),$ $I_{6c2}(0,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6c2}(0,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c2}(0,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0,0), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0), I_{6c3}(0,t,t,0), I_$ $I_{6c3}(t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6c4}(0,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6c4}(t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6c5}(0,t,0,t,t,0), I_{6c5}(0,t,t,0,t,t),$ $I_{6c5}(t, 0, 0, 0, t, t), I_{6c5}(t, 0, t, t, t, 0), I_{6d1}(t, 0, 0, 0, 0), I_{6d1}(t, 0, 0, t, t, t), I_{6d2}(0, t, 0, 0, t, t),$ $I_{6d2}(0,t,0,t,0,0), I_{6d2}(t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6d2}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d6}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6d6}(t,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d6}(t,0,0,t,t), I_{6$ $I_{6e}(0,0,t,t,0,0), I_{6e1}(t,0,t,0,0,t), I_{6e1}(t,t,0,t,t,t), I_{6e5}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6e5}(0,t,0,0,t,0),$ $I_{6e4}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6e4}(t,t,0,t,t,t), I_{6e3}(0,0,t,t,0,0), I_{6e3}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6e3}(t,0,t,0,0,t), I_{6e3}(t,0,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6e3}(t,0,t,0,t,0,t)$ $I_{6f}(0,t,0,t,0,0), I_{6f}(0,t,0,t,t,t), I_{6f5}(0,t,0,t,t,t), I_{6f5}(0,t,t,0,t,0), I_{6f1}(t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{6f1}(t,0,t,0,0), I_{6f1}(t,0,t,0,0), I_{6$ $I_{6f1}(t,0,t,0,t,t), I_{7a1}(t,0,0,t,t,0,0), I_{7a1}(t,t,0,0,t,t,0), I_{7a1}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{7a3}(0,0,t,t,0,0,0), I_{7a3}(0,t,t,0,0,t,0), I_{7a3}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7a5}(0,0,0,0,t,t,t),$ $I_{7a5}(t, 0, 0, t, t, 0, 0), I_{7a7}(0, 0, 0, 0, t, t, t), I_{7a7}(t, t, t, t, 0, 0, t), I_{7b1}(t, 0, 0, 0, t, 0, t),$ $I_{7b1}(t, t, t, 0, t, t, 0), I_{7b2}(0, t, 0, t, 0, 0, 0), I_{7b2}(t, t, t, 0, t, t, 0), I_{7b2}(t, t, t, t, 0, 0, t),$ $I_{7b4}(0, t, 0, t, 0, 0, 0), I_{7b4}(t, 0, 0, t, 0, t, 0), I_{7b4}(t, t, t, t, 0, 0, t), I_{7b6}(t, 0, 0, t, 0, t, 0),$ $I_{7b6}(t, t, t, 0, t, t, 0), I_{7c}(0, 0, t, t, 0, t, t), I_{7c1}(t, t, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0), I_{7c1}(t, t, 0, 0, 0, t, t),$ $I_{7c6}(0,0,t,t,0,t,t), I_{7d}(t,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{7d1}(t,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{7d2}(0,t,0,t,0,t,0),$ $I_{7d2}(0,t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{7d3}(0,t,t,0,0,t,t), I_{7d3}(0,t,t,0,t,0,0), I_{7d3}(t,0,t,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{7d7}(0,t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{7d7}(t,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{7e}(t,0,0,t,0,0,t), I_{7e1}(t,0,0,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{7e2}(0,t,t,0,0,0,0), I_{7e2}(0,t,t,0,0,t,t), I_{7e3}(0,t,t,0,0,0,0), I_{7e3}(0,t,t,0,0,t,t),$ $I_{7e4}(t, 0, 0, t, 0, 0, t), I_{7e6}(0, t, t, 0, 0, t, t), I_{7e6}(t, 0, 0, t, 0, t, 0), I_{8a}(t, 0, t, 0, 0, t, t, 0),$

[†] Although they do not have doubled massless propagators, $I_{8a}(0, 0, 0, t, t, 0, 0, 0)$ and $I_{7d}(t, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$ are IRdivergent, and are not candidates for renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals.

$$I_{8a}(t,t,t,0,0,0,0,0) \}.$$
(6.5)

Furthermore, the derivatives of the master integrals in eqs. (6.2)-(6.4) with respect to s can be expressed in terms of that same set of masters. The results for the derivatives $s\frac{d}{ds}$ acting on all of the master integrals are provided in the ancillary file Ioddsdds.

For practical numerical evaluation, I have derived the series solutions to the differential equations in r = s/t, convergent for |r| < 1, using as boundary conditions the limits of the integrals at s = 0. These boundary conditions involve known vacuum integrals, using the notation of ref. [50]:

$$\overline{F}(0,t,t,t) = t \left[c_F + (3c_I - 3/2)L_t + \frac{3}{2}L_t^2 - \frac{1}{2}L_t^3 \right],$$
(6.6)

$$G(t,0,0,t,t) = t \left[c_G + (15 + \zeta_2 - 3c_I) L_t - 5L_t^2 + \frac{2}{3}L_t^3 \right],$$
(6.7)

$$H(0,t,t,t,0,t) = c'_H + 6\zeta_3(1 - L_t),$$
(6.8)

$$H(0,t,t,t,t,t) = c''_H + 6\zeta_3(1 - L_t),$$
(6.9)

which involve the numerical constants

$$c_F = \frac{1}{2} - 3c_I + 6\sqrt{3}(\ln 3 - \text{Ls}_3) - \frac{\pi^3}{\sqrt{3}} \approx 9.0968675373,$$
 (6.10)

$$c_G = -\frac{52}{3} + 6c_I - \frac{\pi^2}{3} - \frac{2\pi^3}{9\sqrt{3}} - \frac{4}{3}\zeta_3 \approx -19.1723294414, \tag{6.11}$$

$$c'_{H} = 32 \operatorname{Li}_{4}(1/2) - \frac{11\pi^{4}}{45} + \frac{4}{3} \ln^{2}(2) \left[\ln^{2}(2) - \pi^{2} \right] \approx -13.2665092775, \quad (6.12)$$

$$c''_{H} = \frac{7\pi^{4}}{30} - 2c_{I}^{2} + 4\pi \text{Ls}_{3} - 6\text{Ls}'_{4} - \frac{26}{3}\ln(3)\zeta_{3} \approx -15.4292012365,$$
(6.13)

where

Ls₃
$$\equiv -\int_{0}^{2\pi/3} dx \ln^2 [2\sin(x/2)] \approx -2.1447672125694944,$$
 (6.14)

$$Ls'_{4} \equiv -\int_{0}^{2\pi/3} dx \, x \ln^{2}[2\sin(x/2)] \approx -0.4976755516066472.$$
(6.15)

Note that $\overline{F}(0, t, t, t)$ is defined in ref. [50] as

$$\overline{F}(0,t,t,t) = \lim_{x \to 0} \left[F(x,t,t,t) + L_x I(t,t,t) \right],$$
(6.16)

and can also be evaluated in terms of other renormalized ϵ -finite vacuum integrals as

$$\overline{F}(0,t,t,t) = \frac{1}{3}(1+L_t)I(t,t,t) + t\left[\frac{19}{3} - L_t - 2L_t^2 + \frac{2}{3}L_t^3 - 2\frac{d}{dx}G(x,t,t,0,t)\Big|_{x=t}\right].$$
 (6.17)

The series expansions for the renormalized ϵ -finite three-loop odd-threshold self-energy integrals are given in the ancillary file **Ioddseries** in terms of powers of r = s/t up to r^{36} , with coefficients that involve L_t , c_F , c_G , c'_H , c''_H as well as ζ_2 , ζ_3 , ζ_4 and rational numbers. These series converge for |r| < 1, and easily suffice for the relevant Standard Model physical value $r = m_W^2/m_t^2$.

For larger values of s, as explained in section IIID, it is straightforward to numerically integrate



FIG. 6.2: Sample results, for some dimensionless (6-propagator) odd-threshold integrals, with all internal propagator squared masses and the renormalization scale Q set equal to unity $(t = Q^2 = 1)$, as a function of the external momentum invariant s. The results were obtained by numerical solution of the coupled first-order differential equations in s as provided in the ancillary file **Ioddsdds**, starting from the series solution provided in the ancillary file **Ioddseries** evaluated at $s_0 = 0.5$ as the initial condition. In each case, the blue (heavier) line is the real part, and the red (lighter) line is the imaginary part. The lowest threshold is at s = 1 for $I_{6a}(1,0,0,0,1,1)$ (with a logarithmic singularity) and $I_{6e}(0,0,1,1,1,1,1)$ and $I_{6d}(1,0,0,0,0,0)$, with the first two also having visibly conspicuous thresholds at s = 9. For $I_{6d}(1,1,1,1,1,0)$, the only threshold is at s = 9.

the first-order coupled linear differential equations for the master integrals as a function of the dependent variable s, starting from, for example, $s_0 = 0.5t$ where the numerical values can be obtained using the series solution. A few examples of results for some dimensionless (6-propagator) integrals as a function of s are shown in Figure 6.2, for fixed $t = Q^2 = 1$. Here, $I_{6a}(1,0,0,0,1,1)$ has a threshold at s = 1, with a logarithmic singularity. The integrals $I_{6e}(0,0,1,1,1,1)$ and $I_{6d}(1,0,0,0,0,0)$ remain finite at the thresholds at s = 1. Both $I_{6a}(1,0,0,0,1,1)$ and $I_{6e}(0,0,1,1,1,1,1)$ also have visibly conspicuous three-particle-cut thresholds at s = 9. For $I_{6d}(1,1,1,1,1,0)$, the only threshold is at s = 9.



FIG. 7.1: The even-threshold single-mass three-loop self-energy topologies considered (along with their descendants) in section VII. The heavy solid internal lines represent propagators with squared mass t, and the dashed lines represent massless propagators.

VII. INTEGRALS WITH EVEN THRESHOLDS

Consider the three-loop self energy integrals corresponding to the topologies shown in Figure 7.1:

$$I_{8a}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,0), \quad I_{8b}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,t), \quad I_{8c}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,t), \\I_{8a}(t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), \quad I_{8b}(t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), \quad I_{8b}(0,0,t,t,0,0,t,0), \quad I_{8a}(0,t,0,0,0,t,t,0), \quad (7.1)$$

and their descendants obtained by removing internal lines in all possible ways. Note that these 8-propagator topologies are linked by various common descendants. They have possible thresholds at s = 0, s = 4t, and/or s = 16t, but never at s = t or s = 9t, and so are referred to here as "even threshold" integrals. These, along with the all-massless integrals of section IV, arise in QCD corrections to the self-energies of the Z and Higgs bosons. The QCD corrections to the W selfenergy in which the W couples to massless quarks also include descendants of $I_{8a}(0, t, 0, 0, 0, t, t, 0)$.

Applying the IBP identities, I find that the resulting renormalized ϵ -finite masters at one-loop, two-loop, and three-loop orders can be chosen as (omitting the analytically known B(0,0) and M(0,0,0,0,0), found in section IV):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1} &= \{A(t), B(t,t)\}, \end{aligned} (7.2) \\ \mathcal{I}_{2} &= \{V(t,t,0,t), M(0,t,0,t,t), M(t,t,t,t,0)\}, \end{aligned} (7.3) \\ \mathcal{I}_{3} &= \{H(0,0,t,0,t,t), H(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{4}(t,t,t,t), I_{5a}(t,0,t,0,t), I_{5b}(0,t,t,t,t), I_{5c}(t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c2}(t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6d}(0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d}(0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d}(t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{6d}(t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{6c}(t,0,t,0,0,0), I_{6d}(0,0,0,t,t), I_{6e}(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6e}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6e}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6e}(t,t,t,0,t,0), I_{6d}(t,0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6f5}(0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6e}(0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6e}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{7a}(t,t,0,0,0,0,t), I_{7a}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7a}(t,t,0,t,0,0,0,t), I_{7a}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7a}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7a}(t,0,t,0,0,0,t), I_{7b}(t,0,t,0,0,0,t), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,0,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7d}(t,t,0,t,t,t,t,t,$$

$$I_{8a}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{8b}(t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{8b}(0,0,t,t,0,0,t,0), I_{8b}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{8c}(t,0,t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{8c}^{pk}(t,t,t,t,t,0,0,t)\}.$$
(7.4)

For the other candidate master integrals, the solutions (obtained from the IBP relations) in terms of the masters are given in an ancillary file **Ieven**. The complete list of such solved ϵ -finite candidate master integrals is (omitting the analytically known massless integrals S(0,0,0) and U(0,0,0,0), found in section IV):

 $\{I(0,t,t), S(0,t,t), T(t,0,t), U(0,0,t,t), U(t,t,0,t), F(t,0,0,t), F(t,t,t,t), \}$ $G(0,0,0,t,t), G(0,t,t,t,t), G(t,0,t,0,t), I_4(0,0,t,t), I_{41}(t,0,0,t), I_{41}(t,t,t,t),$ $I_{411}(t,0,0,t), I_{411}(t,t,t,t), I_{412}(t,t,0,0), I_{412}(t,t,t,t), I_{5a}(0,0,0,t,t), I_{5a}(0,t,t,t,t),$ $I_{5a1}(t,0,t,0,t), I_{5a2}(0,t,t,0,0), I_{5a2}(0,t,t,t,t), I_{5a2}(t,t,0,0,t), I_{5b}(0,0,0,t,t),$ $I_{5b}(0,t,t,0,0), I_{5b}(t,0,t,0,t), I_{5b1}(t,0,t,0,t), I_{5b2}(0,t,t,0,0), I_{5b2}(0,t,t,t,t),$ $I_{5b2}(t,t,0,0,t), I_{5b4}(0,0,0,t,t), I_{5b4}(0,t,t,t,t), I_{5b4}(t,0,t,t,0), I_{5c}(0,0,0,t,t),$ $I_{5c}(t,t,0,0,t), \ I_{5c3}(0,0,t,0,t), \ I_{5c3}(t,t,t,0,0), \ I_{5c3}(t,t,t,t,t), \ I_{5c2}(t,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{5c2}(t,t,t,t,t), I_{5c1}(t,t,0,0,t), I_{5c1}(t,t,t,t,t), I_{6a}(0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6a}(0,0,t,t,t,t),$ $I_{6a}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6a1}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6a2}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,0,0), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t), I_{6a3}(0,0,t,t,t), I_{$ $I_{6a3}(t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6b}(0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6b}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6b}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6b1}(t,t,0,t,0,t),$ $I_{6b3}(0,0,t,t,0,0), I_{6b3}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6b3}(t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6c}(0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,0,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6c}(0,0,t,t,t,t), I_{6$ $I_{6c}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6c}(t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c1}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6c1}(t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c1}(t,t,t,0,t,t),$ $I_{6c2}(t,t,0,t,0,t), I_{6c2}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6c3}(t,t,t,$ $I_{6c4}(0,0,t,t,0,t),\ I_{6c4}(t,t,0,t,0,t),\ I_{6c5}(0,0,0,0,t,t),\ I_{6c5}(0,0,t,t,t,0),\ I_{6c5}(t,t,0,t,t,0),$ $I_{6c5}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6d1}(t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{6d1}(t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d2}(0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d2}(0,t,t,t,t,0), I_{6d2}(0,t,t,0,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,0,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,0,t), I_{6d2}(0,t,0,t), I_{6d2}($ $I_{6d2}(t,t,0,0,t,t), I_{6d2}(t,t,0,t,0,0), I_{6d6}(0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{6d6}(t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6e}(t,0,0,t,0,t), I_{$ $I_{6e}(t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{6e1}(t,0,0,t,0,t), I_{6e1}(t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{6e5}(0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{6e5}(0,t,t,t,t,0),$ $I_{6e5}(t, 0, 0, t, t, 0), I_{6e5}(t, t, t, 0, t, t), I_{6e2}(0, t, t, t, 0, t), I_{6e2}(t, t, t, 0, 0, 0), I_{6e2}(t, t, t, 0, t, t),$ $I_{6f}(0,0,t,t,0,t), I_{6f}(t,t,t,t,0,0), I_{6f}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{6f5}(0,0,t,t,t,0), I_{6f5}(t,t,t,t,t,t),$ $I_{6f1}(t,t,0,0,0,t), I_{6f1}(t,t,t,t,0,0), I_{6f1}(t,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7a1}(t,0,t,0,t,0,0),$ $I_{7a1}(t,t,0,0,0,0,t), I_{7a1}(t,t,t,t,t,0), I_{7a3}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7a5}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t),$ $I_{7a5}(t, 0, t, 0, t, 0, 0), I_{7a5}(t, t, t, t, t, 0), I_{7a7}(0, 0, t, t, t, t, t), I_{7a7}(t, t, 0, 0, 0, 0, t),$ $I_{7b1}(t, 0, t, 0, 0, 0, t), I_{7b1}(t, 0, t, t, t, t, 0), I_{7b2}(0, t, t, t, t, 0, 0), I_{7b2}(t, t, 0, 0, 0, t, 0),$ $I_{7b2}(t, t, 0, t, t, 0, t), I_{7b4}(0, t, t, t, t, 0, 0), I_{7b6}(t, 0, t, t, t, t, 0), I_{7b6}(t, t, 0, 0, 0, t, 0),$ $I_{7c}(0,0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{7c}(t,t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{7c1}(t,t,t,t,0,0,0), I_{7c1}(t,t,t,t,0,t,t),$ $I_{7c6}(0,0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{7c6}(t,t,t,t,0,t,t), I_{7d}(0,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{7d1}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0),$ $I_{7d1}(t,t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{7d2}(t,t,0,t,0,t,0), I_{7d2}(t,t,0,t,t,0,t), I_{7d3}(0,0,t,t,0,0,t),$ $I_{7d3}(t,t,t,0,0,t,t), I_{7d3}(t,t,t,0,t,0,0), I_{7d7}(0,0,0,0,t,t,t), I_{7d7}(t,t,0,t,t,0,t),$

$$I_{7e}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7e}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7e1}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7e2}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7e3}(0,0,t,t,t,0,0), I_{7e3}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7e3}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7e4}(0,0,t,t,t,0,0), I_{7e4}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7e4}(t,t,t,t,0,0,t), I_{7e5}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7e6}(0,0,0,0,0,t,t), I_{7e6}(0,0,t,t,t,t,t), I_{7e6}(t,t,t,t,0,t,0), I_{8a}(0,t,0,0,0,t,t,0)\}.$$

$$(7.5)$$

Furthermore, the derivatives with respect to s of the master integrals in eqs. (7.2)-(7.4) can be re-expressed in terms of the same set of masters. The results for $s\frac{d}{ds}$ acting on all of the master integrals listed are provided in another ancillary file **Ievensdds**.

For numerical evaluation, I have derived the series solutions to the differential equations in s, using as boundary conditions the values of the integrals at s = 0, which can be obtained from the results for the vacuum integrals, including eq. (6.8) and

$$H(0,0,t,0,t,t) = -9\zeta_4 + 6\zeta_3(1-L_t), \tag{7.6}$$

using the notation of ref. [50]. The series results, up to order r^{36} , for all of the integrals listed in eqs. (7.2)-(7.4) and (7.5) are given in the ancillary file **Ievenseries**, in terms of r = s/t, $L_t = \overline{\ln}(t)$, and $L_{-s} = \overline{\ln}(s) - i\pi$ and the constants ζ_3 , ζ_4 , c'_H , and other coefficients that are rational numbers. These series solutions converge for |r| < 4, which is sufficient for evaluating the three-loop leading QCD corrections to the Higgs and Z boson pole masses in the Standard Model with $r = m_Z^2/m_t^2$.

As explained in section IIID, for larger values of s, one can numerically integrate the firstorder coupled linear differential equations for the master integrals as a function of the dependent variable s, starting from e.g. $s_0 = 0.5t$ where the numerical values can be obtained using the series solutions. As one numerical consistency check, I have verified that the results for $s \gg t$ reproduce those given in eqs. (4.1)-(4.18). Some examples of results for dimensionless (6-propagator) integrals as a function of s are shown in Figure 7.2, for fixed $t = Q^2 = 1$. The function $I_{6f}(0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1)$ has a threshold due to a two-particle cut at s = 0, with a logarithmic singularity there. The function $I_{6d}(1, 0, 1, 0, 1, 0)$ and $I_{6e}(0, 1, 1, 1, 0, 1)$ have their lowest thresholds at s = 4, where the latter has a sharp cusp but remains finite.

VIII. OUTLOOK

In this paper, I have formalized the concept of renormalized ϵ -finite master integrals, in which UV sub-divergences are subtracted. These have the advantage that the expansions of the master integrals to positive powers of ϵ never appear. (One hand-wavy way of understanding why this is not totally unexpected is that the calculations of renormalized observables could in principle employ some other regulator, not based on dimensional continuation at all, in which case there would be no reason for the expansions of the integrals for finite ϵ .) The necessary subtractions were given explicitly for three-loop self-energy integrals in section III C.

I also carried out the solution of the IBP relations for the cases with one internal mass scale (and some vanishing propagator masses), and provided the results needed for fast and accurate



FIG. 7.2: Sample results, for some dimensionless (6-propagator) even-threshold integrals, with all internal propagator squared masses and the renormalization scale Q set equal to unity $(t = Q^2 = 1)$, as a function of the external momentum invariant s. The results were obtained by numerical solution of the coupled first-order differential equations in s as provided in the ancillary file **Ievensdds**, starting from the series solution provided in the ancillary file **Ievenseds**, starting condition. In each case, the blue (heavier) line is the real part, and the red (lighter) line is the imaginary part. The lowest threshold is at s = 0 (two-particle cut, with logarithmic singularity) for $I_{6f}(0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1)$, at s = 0 (three-particle cut) for $I_{6d}(0, 0, 0, 1, 1, 1)$, and at s = 4 for $I_{6d}(1, 0, 1, 0, 1, 0)$ and $I_{6e}(0, 1, 1, 1, 0, 1)$.

numerical evaluation of the renormalized ϵ -finite masters. The results obtained here are applied to the calculation of the 3-loop QCD corrections to the physical masses of the Standard Model W, Z, and Higgs bosons in the pure $\overline{\text{MS}}$ tadpole-free scheme in ref. [36]. The same methods can be applied to numerically calculate three-loop self-energy integrals for arbitrary masses, although the coefficients will be significantly more complicated in the general case, and the number of distinct master integrals will of course be much larger.

In this paper, I have not attempted to specifically address situations with more than two external legs. In that case, non-UV singular contributions involving virtual massless particles require cancellation with the contributions from real emission diagrams at lower loop order, but the same principle of incorporating the UV counterterms within the ϵ -finite master integrals should be beneficial. Acknowledgments: This work was supported in part by the National Science Foundation grant number 2013340.

- C. G. Bollini and J. J. Giambiagi, "Dimensional Renormalization: The Number of Dimensions as a Regularizing Parameter," Nuovo Cim. B 12, 20-26 (1972) doi:10.1007/BF02895558
- [2] C. G. Bollini and J. J. Giambiagi, "Lowest order divergent graphs in nu-dimensional space," Phys. Lett. B 40, 566-568 (1972) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(72)90483-2
- [3] J. F. Ashmore, "A Method of Gauge Invariant Regularization," Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4, 289-290 (1972) doi:10.1007/BF02824407
- G. M. Cicuta and E. Montaldi, "Analytic renormalization via continuous space dimension," Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4, 329-332 (1972) doi:10.1007/BF02756527
- G. 't Hooft and M. J. G. Veltman, "Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields," Nucl. Phys. B 44, 189-213 (1972) doi:10.1016/0550-3213(72)90279-9
- [6] G. 't Hooft, "Dimensional regularization and the renormalization group," Nucl. Phys. B 61, 455-468 (1973) doi:10.1016/0550-3213(73)90376-3
- [7] F. V. Tkachov, "A Theorem on Analytical Calculability of Four Loop Renormalization Group Functions," Phys. Lett. B 100, 65-68 (1981) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(81)90288-4
- [8] K. G. Chetyrkin and F. V. Tkachov, "Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate beta Functions in 4 Loops," Nucl. Phys. B 192, 159-204 (1981) doi:10.1016/0550-3213(81)90199-1
- [9] A. V. Smirnov and A. V. Petukhov, "The Number of Master Integrals is Finite," Lett. Math. Phys. 97, 37-44 (2011) [arXiv:1004.4199 [hep-th]].
- S. Laporta, "High precision calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals by difference equations," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15, 5087-5159 (2000) [arXiv:hep-ph/0102033 [hep-ph]].
- C. Anastasiou and A. Lazopoulos, "Automatic integral reduction for higher order perturbative calculations," JHEP 07, 046 (2004) [arXiv:hep-ph/0404258 [hep-ph]].
- [12] A. V. Smirnov, "Algorithm FIRE Feynman Integral REduction," JHEP 10, 107 (2008) [arXiv:0807.3243 [hep-ph]].
- [13] A. V. Smirnov, "FIRE5: a C++ implementation of Feynman Integral REduction," Comput. Phys. Commun. 189, 182-191 (2015) [arXiv:1408.2372 [hep-ph]].
- [14] A. V. Smirnov and F. S. Chuharev, "FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic," Comput. Phys. Commun. 247, 106877 (2020) [arXiv:1901.07808 [hep-ph]].
- [15] C. Studerus, "Reduze-Feynman Integral Reduction in C++," Comput. Phys. Commun. 181, 1293-1300 (2010) [arXiv:0912.2546 [physics.comp-ph]].
- [16] A. von Manteuffel and C. Studerus, "Reduze 2 Distributed Feynman Integral Reduction," [arXiv:1201.4330 [hep-ph]].
- [17] R. N. Lee, "Presenting LiteRed: a tool for the Loop InTEgrals REDuction," [arXiv:1212.2685 [hep-ph]].
- [18] R. N. Lee, "LiteRed 1.4: a powerful tool for reduction of multiloop integrals," J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 523, 012059 (2014) [arXiv:1310.1145 [hep-ph]].
- [19] A. von Manteuffel and R. M. Schabinger, "A novel approach to integration by parts reduction," Phys. Lett. B 744, 101-104 (2015) [arXiv:1406.4513 [hep-ph]].
- [20] A. Georgoudis, K. J. Larsen and Y. Zhang, "Azurite: An algebraic geometry based package for finding bases of loop integrals," Comput. Phys. Commun. 221, 203-215 (2017) [arXiv:1612.04252 [hep-th]].
- [21] P. Maierhöfer, J. Usovitsch and P. Uwer, "Kira—A Feynman integral reduction program," Comput. Phys. Commun. 230, 99-112 (2018) [arXiv:1705.05610 [hep-ph]].
- [22] P. Maierhöfer and J. Usovitsch, "Kira 1.2 Release Notes," [arXiv:1812.01491 [hep-ph]].
- [23] J. Klappert, F. Lange, P. Maierhöfer and J. Usovitsch, "Integral reduction with Kira 2.0 and finite field methods," Comput. Phys. Commun. 266, 108024 (2021) [arXiv:2008.06494 [hep-ph]].
- [24] K. G. Chetyrkin, M. Faisst, C. Sturm and M. Tentyukov, "epsilon-finite basis of master integrals for

the integration-by-parts method," Nucl. Phys. B 742, 208-229 (2006) [arXiv:hep-ph/0601165 [hep-ph]].

- [25] M. Faisst, P. Maierhoefer and C. Sturm, "Standard and epsilon-finite Master Integrals for the rho-Parameter," Nucl. Phys. B 766, 246-268 (2007) [arXiv:hep-ph/0611244 [hep-ph]].
- [26] J. Gluza, K. Kajda and D. A. Kosower, "Towards a Basis for Planar Two-Loop Integrals," Phys. Rev. D 83, 045012 (2011) [arXiv:1009.0472 [hep-th]].
- [27] R. M. Schabinger, "A New Algorithm For The Generation Of Unitarity-Compatible Integration By Parts Relations," JHEP 01, 077 (2012) [arXiv:1111.4220 [hep-ph]].
- [28] J. M. Henn, "Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple," Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 251601 (2013) [arXiv:1304.1806 [hep-th]].
- [29] J. M. Henn, "Lectures on differential equations for Feynman integrals," J. Phys. A 48, 153001 (2015) [arXiv:1412.2296 [hep-ph]].
- [30] R. N. Lee, "Reducing differential equations for multiloop master integrals," JHEP 04, 108 (2015) [arXiv:1411.0911 [hep-ph]].
- [31] C. Meyer, "Transforming differential equations of multi-loop Feynman integrals into canonical form," JHEP 04, 006 (2017) [arXiv:1611.01087 [hep-ph]].
- [32] A. von Manteuffel and R. M. Schabinger, "Numerical Multi-Loop Calculations via Finite Integrals and One-Mass EW-QCD Drell-Yan Master Integrals," JHEP 04, 129 (2017) [arXiv:1701.06583 [hep-ph]].
- [33] R. N. Lee and A. I. Onishchenko, " ϵ -regular basis for non-polylogarithmic multiloop integrals and total cross section of the process $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2(Q\bar{Q})$," JHEP **12**, 084 (2019) [arXiv:1909.07710 [hep-ph]].
- [34] A. V. Smirnov and V. A. Smirnov, "How to choose master integrals," Nucl. Phys. B 960, 115213 (2020) [arXiv:2002.08042 [hep-ph]].
- [35] J. Usovitsch, "Factorization of denominators in integration-by-parts reductions," [arXiv:2002.08173 [hep-ph]].
- [36] S. P. Martin, "Three-loop QCD corrections to the electroweak boson masses", to appear.
- [37] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equations method: New technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation," Phys. Lett. B 254, 158-164 (1991) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90413-K
- [38] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equations method: The Calculation of vertex type Feynman diagrams," Phys. Lett. B 259, 314-322 (1991) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90834-D
- [39] C. Ford and D. R. T. Jones, "The Effective potential and the differential equations method for Feynman integrals," Phys. Lett. B 274, 409-414 (1992) [erratum: Phys. Lett. B 285, 399 (1992)] doi:10.1016/0370-2693(92)92007-4
- [40] C. Ford, I. Jack and D. R. T. Jones, "The Standard model effective potential at two loops," Nucl. Phys. B 387, 373-390 (1992) [erratum: Nucl. Phys. B 504, 551-552 (1997)] [arXiv:hep-ph/0111190 [hep-ph]].
- [41] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon and D. A. Kosower, "Dimensionally regulated pentagon integrals," Nucl. Phys. B 412, 751-816 (1994) [arXiv:hep-ph/9306240 [hep-ph]].
- [42] E. Remiddi, "Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes," Nuovo Cim. A 110, 1435-1452 (1997) [arXiv:hep-th/9711188 [hep-th]].
- [43] M. Caffo, H. Czyz, S. Laporta and E. Remiddi, "The Master differential equations for the two loop sunrise selfmass amplitudes," Nuovo Cim. A 111, 365-389 (1998) [arXiv:hep-th/9805118 [hep-th]].
- [44] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, "Differential equations for two loop four point functions," Nucl. Phys. B 580, 485-518 (2000) [arXiv:hep-ph/9912329 [hep-ph]].
- [45] M. Caffo, H. Czyz and E. Remiddi, "Numerical evaluation of the general massive 2 loop sunrise selfmass master integrals from differential equations," Nucl. Phys. B 634, 309-325 (2002) [arXiv:hep-ph/0203256 [hep-ph]].
- [46] M. Caffo, H. Czyz and E. Remiddi, "Numerical evaluation of master integrals from differential equations," Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 116, 422-426 (2003) [arXiv:hep-ph/0211178 [hep-ph]].
- [47] M. Caffo, H. Czyz, A. Grzelinska and E. Remiddi, "Numerical evaluation of the general massive 2 loop 4 denominator selfmass master integral from differential equations," Nucl. Phys. B 681, 230-246 (2004) [arXiv:hep-ph/0312189 [hep-ph]].
- [48] S. P. Martin, "Evaluation of two loop selfenergy basis integrals using differential equations," Phys. Rev. D 68, 075002 (2003) [arXiv:hep-ph/0307101 [hep-ph]].

- [49] S. P. Martin and D. G. Robertson, "TSIL: A Program for the calculation of two-loop self-energy integrals," Comput. Phys. Commun. 174, 133-151 (2006) [arXiv:hep-ph/0501132 [hep-ph]]. The Twoloop Self-energy Integral Library (TSIL) is available at: http://www.niu.edu/spmartin/TSIL/ or http://faculty.otterbein.edu/DRobertson/TSIL/
- [50] S. P. Martin and D. G. Robertson, "Evaluation of the general 3-loop vacuum Feynman integral," Phys. Rev. D 95, no. 1, 016008 (2017) [arXiv:1610.07720 [hep-ph]]. The 3-loop Vacuum Integral Library (3VIL) is available at: http://www.niu.edu/spmartin/3VIL/ or http://faculty.otterbein.edu/DRobertson/3VIL/
- [51] S. P. Martin, "Two loop scalar self energies in a general renormalizable theory at leading order in gauge couplings," Phys. Rev. D 70, 016005 (2004) [arXiv:hep-ph/0312092 [hep-ph]].
- [52] S. P. Martin, "Strong and Yukawa two-loop contributions to Higgs scalar boson self-energies and pole masses in supersymmetry," Phys. Rev. D 71, 016012 (2005) [arXiv:hep-ph/0405022 [hep-ph]].
- [53] S. P. Martin, "Two-loop scalar self-energies and pole masses in a general renormalizable theory with massless gauge bosons," Phys. Rev. D 71, 116004 (2005) [arXiv:hep-ph/0502168 [hep-ph]].
- [54] S. P. Martin and D. G. Robertson, "Higgs boson mass in the Standard Model at two-loop order and beyond," Phys. Rev. D 90, no.7, 073010 (2014) [arXiv:1407.4336 [hep-ph]].
- [55] S. P. Martin, "Fermion self-energies and pole masses at two-loop order in a general renormalizable theory with massless gauge bosons," Phys. Rev. D 72, 096008 (2005) [arXiv:hep-ph/0509115 [hep-ph]].
- [56] S. P. Martin, "Top-quark pole mass in the tadpole-free MS scheme," Phys. Rev. D 93, no.9, 094017 (2016) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.93.094017 [arXiv:1604.01134 [hep-ph]].
- [57] S. P. Martin, "Pole Mass of the W Boson at Two-Loop Order in the Pure MS Scheme," Phys. Rev. D 91, no.11, 114003 (2015) [arXiv:1503.03782 [hep-ph]].
- [58] S. P. Martin, "Z-Boson Pole Mass at Two-Loop Order in the Pure MS Scheme," Phys. Rev. D 92, no.1, 014026 (2015) [arXiv:1505.04833 [hep-ph]].
- [59] S. P. Martin, "Two Loop Effective Potential for a General Renormalizable Theory and Softly Broken Supersymmetry," Phys. Rev. D 65, 116003 (2002) [arXiv:hep-ph/0111209 [hep-ph]].
- [60] S. P. Martin and H. H. Patel, "Two-loop effective potential for generalized gauge fixing," Phys. Rev. D 98, no.7, 076008 (2018) [arXiv:1808.07615 [hep-ph]].
- [61] S. P. Martin, "Effective potential at three loops," Phys. Rev. D 96, no. 9, 096005 (2017) [arXiv:1709.02397 [hep-ph]].
- [62] W. A. Bardeen, A. J. Buras, D. W. Duke and T. Muta, "Deep Inelastic Scattering Beyond the Leading Order in Asymptotically Free Gauge Theories," Phys. Rev. D 18, 3998 (1978) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.18.3998
- [63] E. Braaten and J. P. Leveille, "Minimal Subtraction and Momentum Subtraction in QCD at Two Loop Order," Phys. Rev. D 24, 1369 (1981) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.24.1369
- [64] A. I. Davydychev and M. Y. Kalmykov, "New results for the epsilon expansion of certain one, two and three loop Feynman diagrams," Nucl. Phys. B 605, 266-318 (2001) [arXiv:hep-th/0012189 [hep-th]].
- [65] D. J. Broadhurst, "Three loop on-shell charge renormalization without integration: Lambda-MS (QED) to four loops," Z. Phys. C 54, 599-606 (1992) doi:10.1007/BF01559486
- [66] L. Avdeev, J. Fleischer, S. Mikhailov and O. Tarasov, $(0(\alpha \alpha_s^2)$ correction to the electroweak ρ parameter," Phys. Lett. B **336**, 560-566 (1994) [erratum: Phys. Lett. B **349**, 597-598 (1995)] [arXiv:hep-ph/9406363 [hep-ph]].
- [67] J. Fleischer and O. V. Tarasov, "Application of conformal mapping and Padé approximants (ωP?s) to the calculation of various two-loop Feynman diagrams," Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 37, no.2, 115-119 (1994) [arXiv:hep-ph/9407235 [hep-ph]].
- [68] L. V. Avdeev, "Recurrence relations for three loop prototypes of bubble diagrams with a mass," Comput. Phys. Commun. 98, 15-19 (1996) [arXiv:hep-ph/9512442 [hep-ph]].
- [69] D. J. Broadhurst, "Massive three loop Feynman diagrams reducible to SC* primitives of algebras of the sixth root of unity," Eur. Phys. J. C 8, 311-333 (1999) [arXiv:hep-th/9803091 [hep-th]].
- [70] J. Fleischer and M. Y. Kalmykov, "Single mass scale diagrams: Construction of a basis for the epsilon expansion," Phys. Lett. B 470, 168-176 (1999) [arXiv:hep-ph/9910223 [hep-ph]].

- [71] M. Steinhauser, "MATAD: A Program package for the computation of MAssive TADpoles," Comput. Phys. Commun. 134, 335-364 (2001) [arXiv:hep-ph/0009029 [hep-ph]].
- [72] Y. Schroder and A. Vuorinen, "High-precision epsilon expansions of single-mass-scale four-loop vacuum bubbles," JHEP 06, 051 (2005) [arXiv:hep-ph/0503209 [hep-ph]].
- [73] A. I. Davydychev and M. Y. Kalmykov, "Massive Feynman diagrams and inverse binomial sums," Nucl. Phys. B 699, 3-64 (2004) [arXiv:hep-th/0303162 [hep-th]].
- [74] M. Y. Kalmykov, "About higher order epsilon-expansion of some massive two- and three-loop masterintegrals," Nucl. Phys. B 718, 276-292 (2005) [arXiv:hep-ph/0503070 [hep-ph]].
- [75] M. Y. Kalmykov, "Gauss hypergeometric function: Reduction, epsilon-expansion for integer/halfinteger parameters and Feynman diagrams," JHEP 04, 056 (2006) [arXiv:hep-th/0602028 [hep-th]].
- [76] V. V. Bytev, M. Kalmykov, B. A. Kniehl, B. F. L. Ward and S. A. Yost, "Differential Reduction Algorithms for Hypergeometric Functions Applied to Feynman Diagram Calculation," [arXiv:0902.1352 [hep-th]].
- [77] S. Bekavac, A. G. Grozin, D. Seidel and V. A. Smirnov, "Three-loop on-shell Feynman integrals with two masses," Nucl. Phys. B 819, 183-200 (2009) [arXiv:0903.4760 [hep-ph]].
- [78] V. V. Bytev, M. Y. Kalmykov and B. A. Kniehl, "Differential reduction of generalized hypergeometric functions from Feynman diagrams: One-variable case," Nucl. Phys. B 836, 129-170 (2010) [arXiv:0904.0214 [hep-th]].
- [79] Version v2 of arXiv preprint of V. V. Bytev, M. Y. Kalmykov and B. A. Kniehl, "HYPERDIRE, HYPERgeometric functions DIfferential REduction: MATHEMATICA-based packages for differential reduction of generalized hypergeometric functions ${}_{p}F_{p-1}$, F_{1} , F_{2} , F_{3} , F_{4} ," Comput. Phys. Commun. 184, 2332-2342 (2013) [arXiv:1105.3565 [math-ph]].
- [80] J. Grigo, J. Hoff, P. Marquard and M. Steinhauser, "Moments of heavy quark correlators with two masses: exact mass dependence to three loops," Nucl. Phys. B 864, 580-596 (2012) [arXiv:1206.3418 [hep-ph]].
- [81] S. Bauberger and A. Freitas, "TVID: Three-loop Vacuum Integrals from Dispersion relations," [arXiv:1702.02996 [hep-ph]].
- [82] S. Bauberger, A. Freitas and D. Wiegand, "TVID 2: Evaluation of planar-type three-loop self-energy integrals with arbitrary masses," JHEP 01, 024 (2020) [arXiv:1908.09887 [hep-ph]].
- [83] K. G. Chetyrkin, A. L. Kataev and F. V. Tkachov, "New Approach to Evaluation of Multiloop Feynman Integrals: The Gegenbauer Polynomial x Space Technique," Nucl. Phys. B 174, 345-377 (1980) doi:10.1016/0550-3213(80)90289-8
- [84] S. G. Gorishnii, S. A. Larin, L. R. Surguladze and F. V. Tkachov, "Mincer: Program for Multiloop Calculations in Quantum Field Theory for the Schoonschip System," Comput. Phys. Commun. 55, 381-408 (1989) doi:10.1016/0010-4655(89)90134-3
- [85] S. A. Larin, F. V. Tkachov and J. A. M. Vermaseren, "The FORM version of MINCER," NIKHEF-H-91-18.
- [86] P. A. Baikov and K. G. Chetyrkin, "Four Loop Massless Propagators: An Algebraic Evaluation of All Master Integrals," Nucl. Phys. B 837, 186-220 (2010) [arXiv:1004.1153 [hep-ph]].
- [87] K. G. Chetyrkin, A. L. Kataev and F. V. Tkachov, "Higher Order Corrections to $\sigma_t(e^+e^- \rightarrow \text{hadrons})$ in Quantum Chromodynamics," Phys. Lett. B **85**, 277-279 (1979) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(79)90596-3
- [88] S. G. Gorishnii, A. L. Kataev and S. A. Larin, "The $O(\alpha_s^3)$ -corrections to $\sigma_{tot}(e^+e^- \rightarrow \text{hadrons})$ and $\Gamma(\tau^- \rightarrow \nu_{\tau} + \text{hadrons})$ in QCD," Phys. Lett. B **259**, 144-150 (1991) doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90149-K
- [89] S. G. Gorishnii, A. L. Kataev and S. A. Larin, "The three loop QED contributions to the photon vacuum polarization function in the MS scheme and the four loop corrections to the QED beta function in the on-shell scheme," Phys. Lett. B 273, 141-144 (1991) [erratum: Phys. Lett. B 275, 512 (1992); erratum: Phys. Lett. B 341, 448 (1995)] doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90568-B
- [90] D. J. Broadhurst, "Dimensionally continued multiloop gauge theory," [arXiv:hep-th/9909185 [hep-th]].
- [91] P. A. Baikov, K. G. Chetyrkin and J. H. Kuhn, "Adler Function, Bjorken Sum Rule, and the Crewther Relation to Order α_s^4 in a General Gauge Theory," Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 132004 (2010) [arXiv:1001.3606 [hep-ph]].